
 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

MEETING 
 

8.30AM MONDAY, 20TH JULY, 2015 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members of the Rights of way Committee are 
reminded of their personal responsibility to declare 
any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct. 
 
Note: 
 

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and  

 
b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave.  

 



  
 

3. Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous 
Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way  

 

 To receive this Guidance for information.  
 

(Pages 1 - 12) 

4. Guidance on the Law relating to the 
extinguishment of Public Rights of Way under the 
Highways Act 1980  

 

 To receive this Guidance for information.  
 

(Pages 13 - 14) 

5. Guidance on the Law relating to the Diversion of 
Rights of Way under Highways Act 1980  

 

 To receive this Guidance for information.  
 

(Pages 15 - 18) 

6. Troedyrhiw 115   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 19 - 32) 

7. Treharris 40   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 33 - 48) 

8. Troedyrhiw 114   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 49 - 54) 

9. Troedyrhiw 77   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 55 - 60) 

10. Troedyrhiw 76   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 61 - 66) 

11. Treharris 46   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 
 
 

(Pages 67 - 72) 



12. Treharris 47   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 73 - 78) 

13. Treharris 48   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 79 - 84) 

14. Treharris 49   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 85 - 90) 

15. Bedlinog 80   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 91 - 96) 

16. Bedlinog 81   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 97 - 102) 

17. Bedlinog 68   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 103 - 108) 

18. Town 26   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 109 - 112) 

19. Dowlais 18   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 113 - 122) 

20. Dowlais 17   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 123 - 126) 

21. Dowlais 41   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 
 

(Pages 127 - 132) 



22. Cyfarthfa 12   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 133 - 136) 

23. Cyfarthfa 1   

 To consider report of Corporate Director Place and 
Transformation.  
 

(Pages 137 - 140) 

24. Any other Business as deemed urgent by the 
Chair  

 

 
 
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors C T Jones (Chair)  
  
 B E Mansbridge, K Moran, S Slater and W R Smith 

 
 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
 
 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203 

 
Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203 

 
 



 
 

 

                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY 

INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way 
 

Definitions 

 

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 gives the following definitions of the public 

rights of way which are able to be recorded on the Definitive Map:- 

 

Footpath – means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot only, 
other than such a highway at the side of a public road; these rights are without prejudice 

to any other public rights over the way; 

 

Bridleway – means a highway over which the public have the following, but no other, 

rights of way, that is to say, a right of way on foot and a right of way on horseback or 

leading a horse, with or without a right to drive animals of any description along the 

highway; these rights are without prejudice to any other public rights over the way; 

 

Byway open to all traffic (BOATs) – means a highway over which the public have a 

right of way for vehicular traffic and all other kinds of traffic. These routes are recorded 

as Byways recognising their particular type of vehicular highway being routes whose 

characters make them more likely to be used by walkers and horse riders because of them 

being more suitable for these types of uses; 

 

Date Written 11th February 2015 

Report Author Geraint Morgan 

Committee Date 20th April 2015 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Restricted Byway – means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot, 

on horseback or leading a horse and a right of way for vehicles other than mechanically 
propelled vehicles, with or without a right to drive animals along the highway. 

(Mechanically propelled vehicles do not include vehicles in S189 Road Traffic Act 

1988). 

 

 

Duty of the Surveying Authority 
 

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 

shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 

reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of prescribed events by 

Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 

requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. 

 

Orders following “evidential events” 

 
The prescribed events include – 

 

Sub section (3) of section 53 

 

(b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the Map relates, of 

any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period 

raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or 

restricted byway; 

(c) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered with all 

other relevant evidence available to them) shows – 

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the Map and Statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged  to subsist over land in the area to 

which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 

which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, a 

byway open to all traffic; or 
(ii) that a highway shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of a 

particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a  

different description; or 

(iii) that there is a public right of way over land in the Map and Statement 

as a highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in 

the Map and Statement require modification.   

 

The modifications which may be made by Order shall include the addition to the 

statement of particulars as to:- 

 

(a) the position and width of any public path or byway open to all traffic which is 

or is to be shown on the Map; and 

(b) any limitations or conditions affecting the public right of way thereover. 

 

Page 2



Orders following “legal events” 

 
Other events include  

 

“The coming into operation of any enactment or instrument or any other event” whereby 

a highway is stopped up diverted widened or extended or has ceased to be a highway of a 

particular description or has been created and a Modification Order can be made to 

amend the Definitive Map and Statement to reflect these legal events. 

 

Government Policy – Welsh Office Circulars 5/93 & 45/90 
 

In considering the duty outlined above the Authority should have regard to the above 

circulars. 

 

Circular 5/93 
 

Paragraph 13 of Annex B of that circular states “Surveying Authorities, whenever they 
discover or are presented with evidence which suggests that a Definitive Map and 

Statement should be modified, are required to take into consideration all other relevant 

evidence available to them concerning the status of the right of way involved. Moreover 

before making an Order they must be satisfied that the evidence shows on the balance of 

probability that a right of way of a particular description exists or that a way shown on 

the Map is not in fact a public right of way. The mere assumption, without any supporting 

evidence, that a right of way does or does not exist would be insufficient to satisfy that 

test. In the case of deletions, the conclusive evidential effect of definitive maps and 

statements means that the evidence must show that no right of way existed as at the 

relevant date of the Definitive Map on which the way was first shown. If the evidence 

does support this, consideration should also be given to whether the way has acquired 

such rights in the intervening period.” 

 

Further advice on deletions is contained in Welsh Office Circular 45/90. 

 
In relation to byways open to all traffic (BOATs) Paragraph 12 of Annex B states “by 

definition BOATs are vehicular rights of way which are used by the public mainly for the 

purposes for which footpaths and bridleways are used. The Principal factor Surveying 

Authorities should bear in mind when deciding whether a way ought to be shown on the 

Definitive Map and Statement as a BOAT is therefore the purposes for which it is used. 

Thus if it is mainly used by vehicular traffic as opposed to walkers and horse riders it 

should as a general rule not be shown. Instances may occur where a way presumed to 

have been dedicated as a highway for all purposes under Section 31 of the Highways Act 

1980 also satisfies the definition of a BOAT. In such circumstances, it would be open to 

Surveying Authorities to add the way to the Definitive Map and Statement under Section 

53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Section 53(3)(c) also allows for 

ways presently shown on Definitive Maps and Statements as footpaths and bridleways, 

but which enjoy vehicular rights, to be upgraded to BOATs.”      

 

Page 3



Circular 45/90 
 
The circular explains that following the Court of Appeal decision in R v Secretary of 

State for the Environment ex parte Sims and Burrows (1989), authorities may consider 

applications to delete or downgrade rights of way on the basis that the evidence relates to 

events prior to the relevant date of the Definitive Map. 

 

The circular also states: 

 

“However, in making an application for an Order to delete or downgrade a right of way it 

will be for those who contend that there is no right of way or that a right of way is of a 

lower status than shown to prove that the Map is in error by the discovery of evidence 

which, when considered with all other relevant evidence, clearly shows that a mistake 

was made when the right of way was first recorded. The Authority is required by 

Paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 to the Act to investigate the matters stated in the application. 

However, it is not for the Authority to demonstrate that the Map is correct but for the 

applicant to show that an error was made…” 
 

“In making an Order the Authority must be able to say in accordance with Sections 

53(3)(c)(ii) or (iii) that a highway of a particular description ought to be shown on the 

Map and Statement with a different description; or that there is no public right of way 

over land shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of any description…” 

 

“Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to 

maintain an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. The 

evidence needed to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will need to 

be cogent. The procedures for defining and recording public rights of way have, in 

successive legislation, been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they do not preclude 

errors, particularly where recent research has uncovered previously unknown evidence, or 

where the review procedures have never been implemented, they would tend to suggest 

that it is unlikely that a large number of errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 

years without being questioned earlier.”             
 

Definitive Maps 
 

The process for the preparation and revision of definitive maps was introduced by Part III 

of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949. 

 

Merthyr Tydfil was exempt from the provisions of Part III and it was not until 1990 that 

the first Definitive Map and Statement was prepared for Merthyr Tydfil by the then 

Highway Authority, Mid Glamorgan County Council. This was reviewed and the present 

Definitive Map and Statement is dated 15
th
 December 1995. 

 

Test to be applied when making an Order 
 

Page 4



The provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out the tests which must be 

addressed in deciding that the Map should be altered. 
 

Section 53 permits both upgrading and downgrading of recorded highways and additions 

of way not previously recorded as well as deletions from the Map. 

 

The statutory test at S53(3)(b) refers to the expiration of a period of time and use by the 

public such that a presumption of dedication is raised. 

 

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(i) comprises two separate questions, one of which must be 

answered in the affirmative before an Order is made under that subsection. There has to 

be evidence discovered. The claimed right of way has to be found on balance to subsist 

(Test A) or able to be reasonably alleged to subsist (Test B). 

 

This second Test B is easier to satisfy. 

 

Test B has been described in a recent case as imposing a “lesser burden, namely one 
which obliges the Authority only to be satisfied of the existence of facts which raise a 

prima facie case for the subsistence of the way.”      

 

The case of R v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex parte Bagshaw (1994) seems 

by inference to accept that an Order made on resumed dedication under Statute can be 

made under s53(3)(b) or s53(3)(c)(i). 

 

In the Court of Appeal case, R v Secretary of State for Wales, ex parte Emery (1996), 

Lord Justice Roch found that in the case of a dedication deemed under statute; Test A is 

satisfied if there is “clear evidence of 20 years user uncontraverted by any credible 

evidence to the contrary and no credible evidence that there was on the part of the 

landowner no intention during the period to dedicate the way to the public”. 

 

Neither Test A nor Test B will be satisfied if there is “no credible evidence of 20 years 

use or where there is incontrovertible evidence that the landowner had no intention 
during the period to dedicate the way to the public”. 

Test B can be satisfied where “an applicant for a Modification Order produces credible 

evidence of actual enjoyment of a way as a public right of way over a full period of 20 

years and there is conflict of apparently credible evidence in relation to one of the other 

issues which arose under S31 of the 1980 Act”. This is because it is possible, even though 

there is conflicting evidence, that a reasonable person having considered all relevant 

evidence available could reasonably allege a right of way to subsist. 

 

The Court in the Emery case asked Order Making Authorities to bear in mind that 

making an Order still leaves both parties with the ability to object to the Order when 

conflicting evidence can be heard and those issues determined following a public inquiry. 

 

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(ii) again refers to the discovery of evidence that the 

highway on the Definitive Map ought to be shown as a different status. 

Page 5



 

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(iii) again refers to evidence being discovered that there is 
no public right of way of any description after all or that there is evidence that particulars 

in the Map or Statement need to be modified. 

 

The judgement in O’Keefe v Secretary of State for the Environment and Isle of Wight 

CC (1997) reminds Order making Authorities that they should make their own 

assessment of the evidence and not accept unquestioningly what officers place before 

them. 

 

All evidence must be considered and weighed and a view taken on its relevance and 

effect. 

 

An Order making Authority should reach a conclusion on the balance of probabilities. 

The balance of probability test demands a comparative assessment of the evidence on 

opposing sides. This is a complex balancing act. 

 

Recording a “new” route 
 

For a route to have become a highway it must have been dedicated by the owner either 

directly or by inference. 

 

Once a route is a highway it remains a highway, even though it may fall into non use and 

perhaps become part of garden. 

 

This is the position until a legal event causing the highway to cease can be shown to have 

occurred, or the land on which the highways runs is destroyed perhaps by erosion which 

would mean that the highway length ceases to exist.   

 

Sometimes there is documentary evidence of actual dedication but more often a 

dedication can be inferred because of how the landowner appears to have treated the 

route and given it over to public use (dedication at Common Law) or dedication can be 
deemed to have occurred if certain criteria laid down in Statute are fulfilled (dedication 

under S31 Highways Act 1980) 

 

Dedication able to be inferred at Common Law 
 

At common law dedication of a highway may be inferred if the evidence points clearly 

and unequivocally to an intention on the part of the landowner to dedicate. The burden of 

proof is on the claimant to prove a dedication. Evidence of use of the route by the public 

and how an owner acted towards them is one of the factors which may be taken into 

account in deciding whether a path has been dedicated. No minimum period of use is 

necessary. All the circumstances must be taken into account. How a landowner viewed a 

route may also be indicated in documents and maps. 

 

Page 6



However, a landowner may rely on a variety of evidence to indicate that he did not intend 

to dedicate, including signs the way was private, blocking off the way or turning people 
off the path, or granting permission or accepting payment to use the path. 

 

There is no need to know who a landowner was. 

 

Use needs to be by the public. This would seem to require the users to be a number of 

people who together may sensibly be taken to represent the people as a whole/the local 

community. Use wholly or largely by local people may still be use by the public. Use of a 

way by trades people, postmen, estate workers or by employees of the landowner to get 

to work, or the purpose of doing  business with the landowner or on payment would not 

normally be sufficient. Use by friends of or persons known to the landowner would be 

less cogent evidence than use by other persons. 

 

The use also needs to be as of right which would mean that it had to be open, not secretly 

or by force or with permission. Open use would arguably give the landowner the 

opportunity to challenge the use. Toleration by the landowner of a use is not inconsistent 
with user as of right. Recent case law would indicate that the use has to be considered 

from the landowner’s perspective as to whether the use, in all the circumstances, is such 

as to suggest to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a public right of way. 

 

The use would have to be of a sufficient level for a landowner to have been aware of it. 

The use must be by such a number as might reasonably have been expected if the way 

had been unquestioningly a highway. 

 

Current use (vehicular or otherwise) is not required for a route to be considered a Byway 

Open to All Traffic but past use by the public using vehicles will need to be sufficiently 

evidenced from which to infer the dedication of a vehicular route.        

 

Dedication deemed to have taken place (Statutory Test) 
 

By virtue of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 dedication of a path as a highway may 
be presumed from use of the way by the public as of right – not secretly, not by force nor 

by permission without interruption for a full period of twenty years unless there is 

sufficient evidence that there was no intention during the twenty year period to dedicate 

it. 

 

The 20 year period is computed back from the date the existence of the right of way is 

called into question. 

 

A landowner may prevent a presumption of dedication arising by erecting notices 

indicating that the path is private. Further, under Section 31(6) a landowner may deposit 

with the Highway Authority a map (of a scale of not less than 1:10560 {6 inches to the 

mile}) and statement showing those ways, if any, which he or she agrees are dedicated as 

highways. This statement must be followed by statutory declarations. These statutory 

declarations used to have to be renewed at not more than 6 yearly intervals, but the 

Page 7



interval is now 10 years. The declaration would state that no additional rights of way 

have been dedicated. These provisions do not preclude the other ways open to the 
landowner to show the way has not been dedicated. 

 

If the criteria of Section 31 are satisfied a highway can properly be deemed to have been 

dedicated. This deemed dedication is despite a landowner now protesting or being the one 

to now challenge the use as it is considered too late for him to now evidence his lack of 

intention when he failed to do something to sufficiently evidence this during the previous 

twenty years. 

 

Guidance on the various elements of the Statutory criteria:- 

 

Use – see above as to sufficiency of use. The cogency, credibility and consistency of user 

evidence should be considered. 

 

By the public – see above as to users which may be considered “the public”. 

 
As of right – see above. 

 

Without interruption – for a deemed dedication the use must have been without 

interruption. The route should not have been blocked with the intention of excluding the 

users. 

 

For a full period of twenty years – use by different people, each for periods of less than 

twenty years will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous period of twenty years 

or more. The period must end with the route being “called into question”. 

 

Calling into question -  there must be something  done which is sufficient at least to make 

it likely that some users are made aware that the owner has challenged their right to use 

the way as a highway. Barriers, signage and challenges to users can all call a route into 

question. An application for a Modification Order is itself sufficient to be a “calling into 

question” (as provided in the new statutory provisions of Section 31(7a & 7b) Highways 
Act 1980). It is not necessary that it be the landowner who brings the route into question. 

 

Sufficient evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate – this would not need to be 

evidenced for the whole of the twenty year period. It would be unlikely that lack of 

intention could be sufficiently evidenced in the absence of overt and contemporaneous 

acts on the part of the owner. The intention not to dedicate does have to be brought to the 

attention of the users of the route such that a reasonable user would be able to understand 

that the landowner was intending to disabuse him of the notion that the land was a public 

highway. 

 

Documentary Evidence 
 

By virtue of Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 in considering whether a highway has 

been dedicated, maps plans and histories of the locality are admissible in evidence and 

Page 8



must be given such weight as is justified by the circumstances including the antiquity of 

the document, status of the persons by whom and the purpose for which the document 
was made or compiled and the custody from which it is produced.                   

 

In assessing whether or not a highway has been dedicated reference is commonly made to 

old commercial maps of the County, Ordnance Survey maps, sometimes private estate 

maps and other documents, other public documents such as Inclosure or Tithe Awards, 

plans deposited in connection with private Acts of Parliament establishing railways, 

canals or other public works, records compiled in connection with the valuation of land 

for the purposes of the assessment of increment value duty and the Finance Act 1910. 

Works of local history may also be relevant, as may be the records of predecessor 

highway authorities and the information gained in connection with the preparation and 

review of the Definitive Map. 

 

It should be stressed that it is rare for a single document or piece of information to be 

conclusive (although some documents are of more value than others, e.g. Inclosure 

Awards where the Commissioners were empowered to allot and set out highways). It is 
necessary to look at the evidence as a whole to see if it builds up a picture of the route 

being dedicated as a highway.         

 

It should be noted that Ordnance Survey Maps (other than recent series which purport to 

show public rights of way and which derive their information from the Definitive Map) 

contain a disclaimer to the effect that the recording of a highway or right of way does not 

imply that it has any status. The maps reflect what the map makers found on the ground. 

 

Similarly, in relation to other map evidence such as Tithe Maps, they simply indicate that 

there was a track in existence at the time of the inspection, they do not establish the status 

of the track. 

 

Synergy between pieces of highway status evidence – coordination as distinct from 

repetition would significantly increase the collective impact of the documents. 

 

Recording vehicular rights 
 

Historical evidence can indicate that a route carries vehicular rights and following the 

case of Bakewell Management Limited v Brandford case in 2004 (House of Lords) it is 

considered that vehicular rights could be acquired on routes by long user during years 

even since 1930. However, in May 2006 Part 6 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006 came into force. Public rights of way for mechanically propelled 

vehicles are now extinguished on routes shown on the Definitive Map as footpaths, 

bridleways or restricted byways unless one of eight exceptions applies. In essence 

mechanical vehicle rights no longer exist unless a route is recorded in a particular way on 

the Council’s Definitive Map or List of Streets or one of the other exceptions apply. In 

effect the provisions of the Act curtail the future scope for applications to record a Byway 

Open to All Traffic to be successful. 

 

Page 9



The exceptions whereby mechanical vehicular rights are “saved” may be summarised as 

follows:- 
 

1. main lawful use of the route 2001-2006 was use for mechanically propelled 

vehicles. 

2. that the route was not on the Definitive Map but was recorded on the List of 

Streets. 

3. that the route was especially created to be a highway for mechanically propelled 

vehicles. 

4. that the route was constructed under statutory powers as a road intended for use 

by mechanically propelled vehicles. 

5. that the route was dedicated by use of mechanically propelled vehicles before 

December 1930. 

6.  that a proper application was made before 19
th
 May 2005 for a Modification 

Order to record the route as Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT). 

7. that a Regulatory Committee had already made a decision re an application for a 

BOAT before 6
th
 April 2006. 

8. that an application for a Modification Order has already been made before 6th 

April 2006 for a BOAT and at 6th April 2006 use of the way for mechanically 

propelled vehicles was reasonably necessary to enable that applicant to access 

land he has an interest in, even if not actually used. 

 

It is certainly the case that any application to add a byway to the Definitive Map and 

Statement must still be processed and determined even though the outcome may now be 

that a vehicular right of way existed before May 2006 but has been extinguished for 

mechanically propelled vehicles and that the route should be recorded as a restricted 

byway.      

 

Downgrading a route or taking a route off the Definitive Map 
 

In such matters it is clear that the evidence to be considered relates to whether on balance 

it is shown that a mistake was made when the right was first recorded. 
 

In the case of Trevelyan v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the 

Regions (2001), Court of Appeal, it was considered that where a right of way is marked 

on the Definitive Map there is an initial presumption that it exists. It should be assumed 

that the proper procedures were followed and thus evidence which made it reasonably 

arguable that it existed was available when it was put on the Map. The standard of proof 

required to justify a finding that no such right of way exists is on the balance of 

probabilities and evidence of some substance is required to outweigh that presumption. 

 

Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to maintain 

an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. “The evidence needed 

to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will need to be cogent. The 

procedures for defining and recording public rights of way have, in successive legislation, 

been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they do not preclude errors, or where the 

Page 10



review procedures have never been implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is 

unlikely that a large number of errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years 
without being questioned earlier.” 

 

 

Taking one route off and replacing it with an alternative 
 

In some cases there will be no dispute that a public right of way exists between two 

points, but there will be one route shown on the Definitive Map which it is claimed to be 

in error and an alternative route claimed to be the actual correct highway. 

 

There is a need to consider whether, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 a right of way is shown to subsist or is reasonably 

alleged to subsist and also, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(iii) of the same Act 

whether there is no public right of way on the other route. 

 

The guidance published under the statutory provisions make it clear that evidence to 
establish that a right of way should be removed from the authoritative record will need to 

be cogent. 

 

In the case of R (on the application of Leicester County Council) v Secretary of State for 

the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2003), Mr Justice Collins said there “has to be 

a balance drawn between the existence of the definitive map and the route shown on it 

which would have to be removed and the evidence to support the placing on the Map, in 

effect a new right of way. If there is doubt that there is sufficient evidence to show that 

the correct route is other than that shown on the Map, then what is shown on the Map 

must stay.” 

 

The court considered that if it could merely be found that it was reasonable to allege that 

the alternative existed, this would not be sufficient to remove what is shown on the map. 

It advised that, unless in extraordinary circumstances, evidence of an alternative route 

which satisfied only the lower “Test B” (see above) would not be sufficiently cogent 
evidence to remove the existing recorded route from the Map. 

 

Confirming the Order 
 

An Order is not effective until confirmed. 

 

The County Borough Council may confirm unopposed Orders. If there are objections the 

Order is sent to the Secretary of State for determination. The County Borough Council 

usually promotes Orders and actively seeks confirmation from the Secretary of State. 

 

Until recently it was thought that the test to be applied to confirm an Order was the same 

test as to make the Order, which may have been under the lower Test B for the recording 

of a “new” route. However, the Honourable Justice Evans-Lombe heard the matter of 

Todd and Bradley v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

Page 11



(2004) and decided that confirming an Order made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) “implies a 

revisiting by the Authority or Secretary of State of the material upon which the original 
Order was made with a view to subjecting it to a more stringent test at the confirmation 

stage” and that to confirm the Order the Secretary of State (or the Authority) must be 

“satisfied of a case for the subsistence of the right of way in question on the balance of 

probabilities”, i.e. that Test A is satisfied. 

 

It is advised that there may be cases where an Order to record a new route can be made 

because there is sufficient evidence that a highway is reasonably alleged to subsist, but 

unless Committee also consider that there is enough evidence, on balance of probabilities, 

that the route can be said to exist, the Order may not be confirmed as an unopposed Order 

by the County Borough Council. This would mean that an Order could be made, but not 

confirmed as opposed, nor could the confirmation actively be supported by the County 

Borough Council should an opposed Order be submitted to the Secretary of State unless 

additional information came to light at or before the confirmation stage to enable the 

County Borough Council to be satisfied that the way existed. 

 
          

Page 12



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

 

Guidance on the law relating to the extinguishment of public 
rights of way under the Highways Act 1980 
 

The following is to remind Members of the criteria for the making of 
the Order and to offer some guidance.  
 
Often the legal test requires the Committee to be satisfied as to the 
expediency of something. It is suggested that for something to be 
expedient it is appropriate and suitable to the circumstances and may 
incline towards being of an advantage even if not particularly fair. 
Something which is expedient would seem to facilitate your achieving 
a desired end. 
 

TO MAKE AN ORDER 

 

To be satisfied that it is expedient that the path be stopped up on the 
ground that the footpath or bridleway is not needed for public use. 

 
To have due regard to firstly the needs of agriculture and forestry, 
secondly the desirability of conserving flora and fauna and thirdly 
geological and physiographical features. 
 
To confirm the order if unopposed or seek confirmation from the 
Secretary of State (at a Public Inquiry) if the order is opposed. 
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient to do so. 
 
To have regard to the extent to which it appears that the path would 
be likely to be used by the public. 
 
To have regard to the effect which the extinguishment would have as 
respects land served by the path (compensation can be taken into 
account). 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 13



Where the Order is linked with a Creation Order or a Diversion Order 
then the Authority or Inspector can have regard to the extent to which 
the Creation Order or Diversion Order would provide an alternative 
path. 
 

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory 
undertakers under in, upon, over, along or across the land crossed by 
the present definitive route unless the statutory undertakers have 
consented to the confirmation of the Order (consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld). 

 

GUIDANCE 

 
Temporary circumstances preventing or diminishing the use of the 
path shall be disregarded. These include obstructions, which are 
likely to be removed. Trees and 4 feet wide hedges have been held to 
be temporary and even an electricity sub-station. Many obstructions 
seem therefore to be able to be disregarded but this does make it 
difficult to assess what the use of the path would be if the obstruction 
were not there.  
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient to confirm means that other 
considerations other than use could be taken into account perhaps 
safety, perhaps cost. 
 
An Order can be confirmed if it is thought that, despite the fact that it 
was likely to be used, it is not needed because of a convenient path 
nearby. 
 
Councils are advised to take care to avoid creating a cul-de-sac when 
extinguishing only part of a way. 
 
The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the 
breeding or keeping of horses. 
 
 

Page 14



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

 

Guidance on the law relating to the diversion of rights of way 
under Highways Act 1980 
 
The following is to remind Members of the criteria for the making of 
the Orders and to offer some guidance.  
 
Often the legal test requires the Committee to be satisfied as to the 
expediency of something. It is suggested that for something to be 
expedient it is appropriate and suitable to the circumstances and may 
incline towards being of an advantage even if not particularly fair. 
Something which is expedient would seem to facilitate your achieving 
a desired end. 
 
Whether something is as convenient or not substantially less 
convenient may need to be considered. It is suggested that 
convenient refers to being suitable and easy to use. 
 

TO MAKE AN ORDER 

 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee 
or occupier 
OR 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public 
 
To be satisfied that the Order will not alter a point of termination at all 
if it is a cul- de-sac route (ending at a beauty spot for example) 
OR 
If the route terminates at a highway to be satisfied that the 
termination point is only being moved to another point on the same 
highway or to another highway connected to it and the point is 
substantially as convenient to the public 
 
To have due regard to firstly the needs of agriculture and forestry, 
secondly the desirability of conserving flora and fauna and thirdly 
geological and physiographical features. 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 15



 
To confirm the order if unopposed or seek confirmation from the 
Secretary of State (at a Public Inquiry if necessary) if the order is 
opposed. 
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee 
or occupier 
OR 
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public 
 
To be satisfied that the route will not be substantially less convenient 
to the public 
 
That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect the 
diversion would have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a 
whole 
 
That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on land 
served by the existing right of way (compensation can be taken into 
account) 
 
That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on the 
land over which the “new” section runs and any land held with it 
(compensation can be taken into account) 
 
Also having regard to any material provision of any Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan 
 

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory 
undertakers under in, upon, over, along or across the land crossed by 
the present definitive route unless the statutory undertakers have 
consented to the confirmation of the Order (consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld)   

 

GUIDANCE 

 

Page 16



The point of termination being as substantially convenient is a matter 
of judgment subject to the test of reasonableness. Convenience 
would have its natural and ordinary meaning and refer to such 
matters as whether the new point of termination facilitated the access 
of the highway network and accommodated user’s normal use of the 
network. 
 
That the diverted path is not substantially less convenient would 
mean convenience again being considered. The wording in the 
Statute allows the diversion to be slightly less convenient but it must 
not be substantially less so. Length of the diversion, difficulty of 
walking it, effect on users who may approach the diversion from 
different directions are factors to be considered 
 
The effect on public enjoyment of the whole route has to be 
considered.  
 
It would be possible that a proposed diversion may be as convenient 
but made the route less enjoyable (perhaps it was less scenic). 
Alternatively the diversion may give the route greater public 
enjoyment but be substantially less convenient (being less accessible 
or longer than the existing path). 
 
It may be that the grounds to make an Order are satisfied but the 
Committee may be unhappy that the route can satisfy the 
confirmation test. It is suggested that in such circumstances the 
Order should be made but the Committee should consider deferring 
the decision on whether to confirm it (if there are no objections) or (if 
there are objections) whether to instruct officers not to even send the 
Order to the Secretary of State for confirmation or to instruct to 
submit the Order to the Secretary of State and promote the 
confirmation of same. The Council has a discretion as to whether to 
submit this type of Order to the Secretary of State. It is not obliged to 
just because it has made the Order.    
 
Under amended provisions, the “new” section of route will “appear” 
on confirmation of the Order (or a set number of days thereafter) but 
the “old” route will remain until the new route is certified as fit for use. 
It would appear that the public could quickly have the use of a new 
section which is fit for use as soon as confirmed but if the new route 

Page 17



is unfit for use for a long time, the old line of the Right of Way is still 
there for the public to use. 
 
It would appear that if a definitive path is not used due to some 
temporary obstruction e.g. crops, overgrowth, broken stiles, the Order 
should be considered as if the path was open and in useable 
condition. 
 
It would appear that a way created by a Diversion Order may follow 
an existing right of way for some but not most or all of its length. 
 
The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the 
breeding or keeping of horses. 
 

Page 18



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 115 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To determine a public right of way from Duffryn Pentrebach to Parish Road and beyond.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 A claim to record a public right of way from Duffryn Pentrebach to the Parish Road 
 and beyond was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 12th June 
 1991. 
 
1.2  A letter of acknowledgement to this claim recognised that the route is one of three 

 routes which were submitted together and which link one with another on the ridge, 
 Cefn  Merthyr.  
 

1.3  The County Borough is required by law to investigate the evidence and make a 
 decision based on The County Borough is required by law to investigate the 
 evidence and make  a decision based on that evidence as to whether a public right of 
 way exists,  and if so its status. Section 53(3)(b) and (c) Wildlife and Countryside 
 Act 1981 sets out the tests that need to be met when reaching a decision; also 
 current case law needs to be applied. 

 

1.4  An order will only be made if the evidence shows that: (a) a right of way “subsists” or 
 is “reasonably alleged to subsist” or (b) “the expiration 4 of any period such that the 

Date Written 2nd July 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 6

Page 19



 enjoyment by the public 4 raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as 
 a public path”. 

 
1.5  When considering evidence, if it is shown that a highway once existed then highway 

 rights continue to exist (“once a highway, always a highway”) even if the route has 
 since become disused or obstructed unless a legal order. 

 

1.6  The legal background is to be found at Agenda Item 3.stopping up or diverting the 
 rights has been made. 

 

 
1.7  Description of the Claimed  

 
 As depicted on the plan, Troedyrhiw 115, the route commences at a gate and 
 adjacent kissing gate at the eastern end of a maintainable highway, at Point A, grid 
 reference SO06760353. It proceeds in a general south-south-easterly direction 
 initially along a tarmacadam surface and then along an earth track to Point B, grid 
 reference SO06810348. Here it turns to a general north-easterly direction and 
 continues along the side of the Linde Factory to Point C where it changes to a 
 general south-easterly direction and continues skirting the Linde Factory to Point D, 
 grid reference SO06910345. From here it continues in a general south –easterly 
 direction to Point E, grid reference SO07050329. It then continues in a general 
 south-easterly direction along a tarmacadam surface, the Trevithick Trail, to Point F, 
 grid reference SO07060325. At this point the surface reverts to an earth track and 
 the route continues steeply uphill to Point G. At Point G the path flattens out and 
 continues to Point H, the ruins of Gilfach-yr-Encil farmstead lying immediately to the 
 west. From here the path continues steeply uphill in a general south-easterly 
 direction and flattens off on the Cefn Merthyr ridge before continuing to Point I, grid 
 reference SO08010253. At this point the path forks with one section continuing in a 
 generally easterly direction to Point J, grid reference SO08010253 where it 
 terminates at its junction with another claim (Merthyr Vale 11 – to be presented to 
 Committee in the future) and the other section continuing in a general southerly 
 direction and then a general south-easterly direction to Point K, grid reference 
 SO08260148 where it terminates at its common junction with claim (Merthyr Vale 11 
 mentioned above) and with Public Right of Way bridleway Troedyrhiw 22.      

 
 Between Points B – C – D the track is 3 metres wide and varies between 1 – 1·5 
 metres for the remainder of its length. 

 
 Councillors are requested to note that the section between Points B – C – D is a 
 legal public right of way, bridleway Troedyrhiw 202. 

 
 The routes before Councillors for determination today are between Points A – B 
 (Troedyrhiw 115), Points D – E (Troedyrhiw 203), Points F - G- H – I - J (Troedyrhiw 
 205) and Points I – K (Troedyrhiw 204). 

 
 The section between Points E - F will be dealt with at a subsequent committee when 
 this section of the Trevithick Trail is presented to committee. 

 
 The main claimant (now deceased) submitted: 

Page 20



 
 correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) where he 
 describes this route as a drovers road,  
 
 correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
 notice on the owner/occupiers) where he states “Pentrebach link to Parish Road”,a 
 copy of an extract from an Ordnance Survey (OS) map with the claimed route 
 depicted by a bold black line, 10 correctly completed evidence forms, none 
 describing this specific route in detail, 9 showing a minimum of 20 years use (the 
 tenth claimant failed to answer this question); 7 claiming this route as a footpath (3 
 failed to complete this question); 8 gave evidence of use as a footpath and 2 as a 
 BOAT; all stated that the path is well-defined and that they consider it to be public; all 
 listed four interconnecting routes and stated that they recognised gates on these 
 routes, two on the Parish Road and one on the drovers road to the Parish Road. 
 These forms are copies of the forms submitted in evidence for Treharris 40 (also 
 before Councillors for determination) and Merthyr Vale 11 (to be presented to a 
 subsequent committee). 
 

The main claimant claimed this route as a bridleway. 
 

A number of the forms have been completed by one person but individual claimants 
have signed them. 

    
1.8  Land Ownership 
 
 The main claimant stated that he had notified 2 landowners, the owners of the 
 Abercanaid Estate and Dowlais Top Investment Company Ltd. Currently sections of 
 the route are owned by the Council, Henton Estate, Miller Argent (South Wales) Ltd, 
 Dowlais Top Investment Company Ltd and The Welsh Government.  
 
1.9  Maps 
  
 Depiction of a route on a map is evidence of a track/path, but NOT of any public 
 rights. 

 
 A very short section near the Duffryn Furnaces is depicted on the Merthyr Tydfil tithe 
 map; most of the route is depicted on the 1920s and 1960s  Ordnance Survey maps 
 and on the Rhondda & Merthyr Tydfil / Tudful 1:25,00 revision, 2005 Ordnance 
 Survey map. On these OS maps the route continues southward and does not turn 
 eastward to join Merthyr Vale 11. 

 
1.10 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Most of the route is depicted on a 1991 aerial photograph and the route on ones 
 dated 2008 and 2010. 

 
1.11 Books/journals/websites consulted 
 

Page 21



 The line of the incline (part of the earlier industrial works) is depicted on a sketch 
 map in Historic Taf Valleys, Vol iii part 2 Social and Industrial History. 
 
1.12 Site Visits 

 
 MTCBC officers have walked the route and found that a section at the 
 commencement in the west has been diverted around the boundary of the Linde 
 factory (the new alignment is shown between Points B-C-D); the remainder of the 
 route is as described above. 
  

1.13 Government Records and Orders 
 
 Reference to the north-western section, adjacent to the Halla factory (now the Linde 
 factory) was made in consultations regarding a planning application by the Welsh 
 Development Agency in December 1995. The route was described as a claimed 
 bridleway and the rights of way department stated “The approximate line of a 
 claimed bridleway is shown coloured green crossing the site. This must be protected 
 at all times”. No objection to the planning application was made by the Highway 
 Authority subject to a number of conditions, including one which stated that no works 
 could commence until details regarding the claimed bridleway be agreed with the 
 Local Planning and Highway Authorities. Further discussions with the developers 
 and with the subsequent purchaser of the land demonstrate that the public rights 
 were accepted and agreement reached concerning provision of signs, landscaping, 
 kissing gates or similar if possible, to try and prevent motor cycle access. The 
 diversion of the route around the Halla factory boundary was confirmed in a Public 
 Path Diversion Order under s.257 Town and Country Planning Act1990; this section 
 is known as Public Right of Way, Bridleway Troedyrhiw 202. 

 
1.14 Observations from landowners and other interested parties 
 
 Current landowners were advised of this route in March 2011. 

 
 MTCBC Estates Department wrote that they have no objection to the revised route 
 (that is the diversion around the Linde factory). 

 
 Mr Richard Henton of Hentons Commercial, on behalf of the Abercanaid and 
 Pentrebach Estate acknowledged that the route followed a long established footpath 
 and that there has been realignment in the extreme western section. 

 
 On behalf of Miller Argent (South Wales) Ltd. Mr. Roger Leek of Leek & Weston Ltd 
 made a number of generic comments in relation to this route, Treharris 40 and 
 Merthyr Vale 11 (routes which are also before members for determination today). He 
 stated that the three claims had been made by one person and were all supported by 
 the same ten claimants. He also observed that “the content and wording of the ten 
 evidence forms replicate each other extremely closely and appear to a large extent 
 to have been copied from or based on the same original” although he recognized 
 that the claimed period and use of the routes varies. Mr. Leek also made comments 
 specific to each route and in relation to Troedyrhiw 115 stated that the section which 
 crosses his client’s land is rutted but cannot attribute this to any particular activity; he 
 suggests they may have been caused by motorcycles more than four-wheeled drive 

Page 22



 vehicles and adds that a further southward route “appears to exhibit tracks more 
 characteristic of four-wheeled vehicles”. Both tracks however, continue as one track 
 which he recognizes as “more akin to a motorcycle track, bridleway, footpath or 
 sheep track” and puts forward the view that because of motorcycle activity in the 
 area, this is the most likely use. He continues, “Despite this evidence of recent use, 
 the lye of the land and surface features over the length in question do not rule out 
 the possibility of there being some historic use as a cart track or ancient parish road 
 as claimed. However, evidence from other sources would be needed to substantiaite 
 this”. He concluded this section of his comments by stating that his client would have 
 no objection to this route being designated as a footpath or bridleway but recognizes 
 that further evidence would be necessary for designation as a vehicular route. 

 
 Mr Leek cited sections 193(1), 193(1)(c) and 193(4) Law of Property Act 1925; 
 s.34(1) Road Traffic Act 1988; Bakewell Management Ltd v Brandwood and Others 
 2004 UKHL14 and Hanning v Top Deck Travel Ltd 1993 which govern the rights and 
 restrictions of use of common land by the public; particularly that it is still an offence 
 to drive a motor vehicle on common land without consent of the owners. He stated 
 that the public have the right of access on foot or horseback on any part of the urban 
 common and observes that the recording of public rights may actually be negative to 
 public use and serve to cause the public to believe that their rights only exist over the 
 designated tracks. 

 
 He adds that his client’s response at this time is in an informal one in response to an 
 informal consultation and he requests notification when the formal response is 
 required. 

 
 An Investigation Report into this route was distributed to all interested parties in 
 March 2011. This Report contained all of the information available to the Authority to 
 that date. 

 
 MTCBC Estates Department wrote that they recognize that the section of the route 
 within their ownership appears to be well used and that they have no objection to the 
 route as a footpath but would not support any vehicular rights. 

 
 After undertaking a site visit and having walked the claimed route, Mr. David Weston, 
 on behalf of Dowlais Top Investments (DTI) stated that he has searched DTI’s files 
 and records and is unable to find any record of original notification of the claim. He 
 therefore queries whether the requirement was complied with, and if so, whether the 
 notices were in the prescribed form. Mr. Weston further observes that although the 
 ten evidence forms refer to this specific route, claimants give the same evidence in 
 relation to all four claimed routes; he further details that all ten evidence forms are 
 deficient in some way and maintains that they are not correctly completed. Mr. 
 Weston states that it would be impossible to use the route as depicted in the 
 Investigation Report by motor vehicles or on horseback. In addition, Mr. Weston 
 wrote, 
 
 “It is quite clear that this is a sheep track formed by the livestock on the common and 
 the route identified by the claimant and his supporters is indistinguishable from the 
 numerous other tracks formed by livestock in this part or in deed in any other part of 
 the common”. 

Page 23



 
 He maintains that the section from the start of the Mynydd Gilfach yr Encil 
 escarpment has definitely been formed by sheep “constantly walking around the 
 boundary fence with the adjoining in bye pasture”; it is far too narrow and steep to be 
 used as a public footpath “let alone on horseback” and finds “laughable” the 
 suggestion of use by motor vehicles. Mr. Weston conveys his clients’ reservations 
 about “statements made over 20 years ago by claimants and supporting witnesses 
 who can no longer be challenged on the accuracy of their claims”  and finally states “ 
 - the route is not useable and the claim should be rejected and it should be for the 
 public to submit a new claim for a right of way which can be properly examined and 
 judged on the evidence as exists at the present time”. 

 
 Mr. Roger Leek of Leek & Weston Ltd. requested that his clients’ (Miller Argent 
 [South Wales] Ltd) original comments of April 2011 and those of 17th June 2011 in 
 relation to Treharris 40 be maintained in relation to this route, Troedyrhiw 115, and 
 made additional observations on their behalf. He expressed serious concerns that 
 the claim for this and the other three linked routes were made 20 years ago but are 
 only now being considered by the Authority. He questions the reliance, validity and 
 thoroughness of the Investigation Report in light of the fact that claimants were only 
 consulted re Merthyr Vale 11 and that claimants have not subsequently 
 substantiated their evidence. He maintains “no ground exists to continue with the 
 consideration of this claim and, like the others, it should be dismissed accordingly”. 
 
 Mr. Leek also made comments specific to Troedyrhiw 115. He pointed out that the 
 route as described by the Council is unsuitable for public use and confirms this by 
 stating that having attempted to walk it, he found it extremely difficult to follow in 
 places. He further maintained that it follows an old tramway (to the long-abandoned 
 Troedyrhiw quarry) or agricultural tracks associated with the now demolished Gilfach 
 yr Encil Farm and thus not evidence of public use. The easterly section is only an 
 animal track adjacent to a fenceline; it is unlikely to have existed prior to the erection 
 of the fence and is described as “extremely hazardous and unadvisable to negotiate 
 on horseback”. Mr. Leek maintains that a further section of the route as described 
 and depicted by the Council “simply doesn’t exist” and concludes this section of his 
 argument by stating his client’s opinion that “even if a publicly used route ever 
 existed, the claimed route depicted by the Authority - is unlikely to be that route. 
 Given the array of unsubstantiated facts surrounding this claim, it is our client’s view 
 that the Authority should carry out further research before taking any decision on it. 
 The route depicted in the Investigation Report should certainly not be determined to 
 be a public right of way without being fully corroborated by evidence”.  
  
 Mr. Leek reiterates his client’s opinion that the Authority should not have referred to 
 the claimants’ forms as “correctly completed”; he considers their content 
 questionable and as no claimant has responded to the request for interview, the 
 “matter should be dropped and the claim declared derelict”. He adds that the route is 
 unsuitable for equestrian use – although claimed as such by the main claimant; this 
 reinforces his opinion that the route depicted by the Council is incorrect. 

 
 In relation to the aerial photographs, Mr. Leek maintains that only regular animal use 
 would create such paths and past surveys have shown that public use is far too low 
 to make such an impression on the grass sward. He states that the tithe map does 

Page 24



 not depict the claimed route – a fact, he says, which further undermines the 
 Authority’s Report. Mr. Leek also points out that the (disused) incline on a sketch 
 map is not evidence of a public path. 
 
 Without prejudice Mr Leek and his clients accept the S.257 diversion around the 
 Linde Factory.  

 
1.15 Other Evidence In Relation To This Route 
 
 The section between Points E - F is a nationally recognised cycle route, the 
 Trevithick Trail. This section will be dealt with at a subsequent committee. 

 
 A section of this route between Point A – B is depicted as a bridleway  and labelled 
 “75” on a map drawn for a draft  survey of rights of way in 1979. The same depiction 
 and annotation occurs on the map drawn for a draft survey of rights of way in 1991. 
 A schedule accompanied this map and route “75” is described: 

 
 “75 B.R. Commences at gate in lane at rear of Chapel Street, Troedyrhiw and in 
 north westerly direction and proceeds along well defined track across flat ground 
 before turning slight incline to terminate at gate.”      

 
 The Authority’s public rights of way are now recorded on its Definitive Map and 
 Statement which are maintained by the Council and held at the Council offices in 
 Merthyr Tydfil where they are available for public consultation. The duty of recording 
 Public Rights of Way on a Definitive Map and Statement was introduced by the 
 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 which also provided for the 
 survey of paths and the preparation of draft maps to which objections could be 
 made. This duty however was optional in London and all County Boroughs – of 
 which Merthyr Tydfil was one at that time. The period between 1950 and 1974 saw a 
 Definitive Map, a Review, a Draft, a Provisional Map and a further Review and Draft 
 Review published for the former County of Glamorgan.  Merthyr Tydfil however, was 
 a “blank” area on all of these documents although the maps depict public rights of 
 way within neighbouring Gelligaer Urban District Council. These routes (now in the 
 Caerphilly County Borough Council area) join some of the routes which were the 
 subject of the Trecatty Order 1975. The Local Government Act 1972 abolished 
 County Boroughs and reorganised some County Borough boundaries.  Merthyr Tydfil 
 was now within Mid Glamorgan County Council which was required to abandon and 
 restart any review for which no revised map had been published. A draft survey was 
 carried out and a Draft Map and Statement were drawn up for the (new) Merthyr 
 Tydfil Borough in 1979. A draft map and schedule of Public Rights of Way was also 
 drawn up for Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council in 1991 but it is not known whether a 
 draft statement was produced at this time. In 1991 the former Mid Glamorgan County 
 Council produced a “blank” Map for the Borough of Merthyr Tydfil and this was 
 followed by a Modified Definitive Map and Statement dated 15th December 1995.  
 This included all Public Rights of Way which had been in the Vaynor and Bedlinog 
 Wards (previously within Breconshire County Council and the Gelligaer Urban 
 District Council respectively) along with all Definitive Map Modification Orders 
 subsequent to 1991 which were incorporated into the Order dated 15th December 
 1995.  

 

Page 25



This was one of four routes on interconnecting tracks on the ridge of Cefn Merthyr 
which were listed by claimants in June 1991. Claimants for another linked route, 
Bedlinog 77, also gave evidence of using sections of these four routes and they (and 
Bedlinog 77) can also be accessed by a further route. 

 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by recording the 
routes known as Troedyrhiw 115, Troedyrhiw 203, Troedyrhiw 204 and Troedyrhiw 
205. 

 
2.2 Status 
 
 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 
 evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 User and historic evidence demonstrate use of these routes and historic  evidence 

exists that the routes are footpaths. 
 

3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 

3.1 in the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
 years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case Officers consider that it 
 would be the period between the 13th June 1971 and 12th June 1991. User evidence 
 exists for this period. 

 
3.2 Councillors will note from the report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
 the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
 way deemed to have been dedicated as highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
 that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 
3.3 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 
 public use. 
 

4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is discernible on the ground. 
 

5.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 The routes have been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. Depiction  of 
 these routes on the various maps as described in the body of this Report indicates 
 that the tracks/paths existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
 rights on the  routes. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the tracks/paths and 
 the ways in which these claimed route links with other routes. 

Page 26



6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence as described 
 above. 
 

7.0 SUMMARY 

 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 
 by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
 the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways. There is insufficient 
 evidence that there was no intention during that period not to dedicate them. 
 
7.2 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of these 

routes. 
 
7.3 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, i.e., over the relevant period and at all material times before it.        
 
7.4 Taking all of the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, 

the interviews with claimants, it is evident that a right of way does exist over these 
routes. 

 

7.5 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of S. 31(1) 
and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route included on the application. 
It is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to 
dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes. Orders to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
7.6 Taking the above into account, Orders to modify the Definitive Map and  Statement 
 should therefore be made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and  Countryside Act 1981. 
 Officers are satisfied that the requirements of  S.53 (3)(b) have been met and that 
 the Public Rights of Way exist. 
 
7.7 Officers therefore recommend that footpaths be recorded in respect of these 
 routes. 
 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1 Officer’s time is involved in investigating the routes and writing the report.  If 
 Councillor’s determine that the public rights of way exist, there will be a financial 
 implication in advertising the Orders and also for dealing with the Public Inquiry if  an 
Order is made and there is an objection to it. 
 
8.2 If an Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the routes will 
 need to be signed.  As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
 considered by the Committee when determining this application as the County 

Page 27



Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it  believes that there is sufficient 
evidence to support it. 
 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this  report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided,  including 
 historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that: 
 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 115 
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the 
route marked with a bold black line between Points A – B on the plan, Troedyrhiw 
115, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map Modification 
Order to show Troedyrhiw 115 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 

 In respect of Troedyrhiw 203 
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the 
route marked with a bold black line between Points D – E on the plan, Troedyrhiw 
115, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map Modification 
Order to show Troedyrhiw 203 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 

Page 28



(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 
not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination 

 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 205 
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the 
route marked with a bold black line between Points F – G – H – I – J on the plan, 
Troedyrhiw 115, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted 
by other evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map Modification 
Order to show Troedyrhiw 205 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination 

 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 204 
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the 
route marked with a bold black line between Points  I - K on the plan, Troedyrhiw 
115, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map Modification 
Order to show Troedyrhiw 204 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

Page 29



BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Troedyrhiw 115   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 30



Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

TREHARRIS 40 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To determine a public right of way from the Parish Road, Merthyr Vale to Ty Cook 
Farm, Treharris 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 A claim to record a Public Right of Way from the Parish Road, Merthyr Vale to 

Ty Cook Farm, Treharris was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council (MTCBC) on 12th June 1991.  
 

1.2 The legal background is to be found in Agenda Item 3. 

1.3 The Route 

 

1.4 Description of Claimed Route 
 

As depicted on the plan, Treharris 40, the route commences at Point A, grid 
reference ST08270135, its junction with the maintainable highway. It 
proceeds in a general southerly direction to Point B, what is currently a 
barbed wire fence and a hole in a drystone wall (previously a gate). It then 
continues in a general southerly direction to Point C, grid reference 
ST08190094, its junction with a further path. It continues in a general 
southerly direction to Point D, grid reference ST08220049. It then continues in 
a general south-easterly direction to Point E, grid reference ST08380024 
where it reverts to a general southerly direction and continues to Point F, grid 

Date Written 25th June 2015  

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July l  2015 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



reference ST08329990. It continues in a general southerly direction to a field 
gate at Point G, grid reference ST08299917. From here it continues in a 
general south-easterly to Point H, grid reference ST08629868 where it joins 
the maintainable highway. The surface to this point is predominantly natural 
changing to a hard core track just to the north of the field gate at Point G. The 
path then continues in a general south – easterly direction along a 
tarmacadam surface to terminate at Point I, grid reference ST09499723, the 
Twynygarreg Housing estate. The width is between 2 – 3 metres.     

 
Councillors are asked to note that the section between Point D and Point E is 
recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a section of Public Right of 
Way Merthyr Vale 17. Councillors are also asked to note the section between 
point H and Point I is maintainable highway.  
 
Councillors are requested to note that there is a further used route which 
commences at Point C, grid reference ST08190094 and continues in a 
general easterly direction to Point J, then a general south-easterly direction to 
Point K and finally a general southerly direction to terminate at Point E (grid 
reference ST08380024) on the plan and present this to you for determination 
today. If approved, this route will be known as Merthyr Vale 24. The surface is 
earth.   

 
Councillors are also requested to note that there is a further used route 
between Points F (Grid Reference ST08329990) and Point L, grid reference 
ST08110076 on the plan and present this to you for determination today. If 
approved, this route will be known as Merthyr Vale 22. The surface is earth. 

 
   

The sections before Councillors for determination today therefore are those 
between Points A – B – C - D (known as Merthyr Vale 21), between Points E 
– F – G - H (known as Treharris 40), between Points B – J – K – E (known as 
Merthyr Vale 24) and between Points F – L (known as Merthyr Vale 22) 
 
The route submitted in this application is not depicted on the Definitive Map. 

 
1.5 Land Ownership 
 

The main claimant in 1991 stated that he had notified two landowners; the 
owners of Pendducae Fawr and Pendducae Fach Farms. 

 
Different sections of the route cross land which is currently owned by: 

 

• Miller Argent (South Wales) Ltd.,  

• Dowlais Top Investment Company Ltd.,  

• Ms Llewelyn, and 

• Owners of Ty Du, Tir Lan and Penbwlchfa Farms 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



1.6 Maps 
 

Depiction of a route on a map is evidence of a track / path, but NOT of any 
public rights. 

 
The entire route is depicted on the 1850 Merthyr Tydfil tithe map, on 
Ordnance Survey (OS) maps of 1960s and 1970s and on the Rhondda & 
Merthyr Tydfil / Tudful 1:25,000 revision, 2005 OS map. The route is also 
depicted on the only available (southern section) OS maps dating from the 
1880s and 1920s. 

 
1.7 Aerial Photographs 
 

Sections of the route are depicted on aerial photographs dated 1967, 1981, 
1991, 2008 and 2010. 

 
1.8 Site Visits 
 

MTCBC officers have walked the route and found it as described above; they 
observed other walkers on the route.  

 
1.9 Consultation 
 
 
1.10 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

Internal Departments were consulted and no adverse comments were 
received. 

 
1.11 Current Landowners and other interested parties 
 
1.11.1 Current landowners were advised of this route in March 2011.  
 

On behalf of Miller Argent (South Wales) Ltd. Mr. Roger Leek of Leek & 
Weston Ltd made a number of generic comments in relation to this route, 
Treharris 40, as well as Troedyrhiw 115 and Merthyr Vale 11 (routes which 
will be presented to Councillors in the future) . He stated that the three claims 
had been made by one person and were all supported by the same ten 
claimants. He also observed that “the content and wording of the ten evidence 
forms replicate each other extremely closely and appear to a large extent to 
have been copied from or based on the same original”, although he 
recognized that the claimed period and use of the routes varies.  

 
Mr. Leek also made comments specific to that section of each route which 
crosses his client’s land, and in relation to Treharris 40 expressed 
reservations concerning both vehicular and bridleway use but stated that his 
client would have no objection to it being designated as a footpath (although 
there would still be a problem negotiating a stone wall) and recognizes that 
evidence from claimants and on the ground makes it unlikely that any other 
status could be considered. 

Page 35



He states that in addition to the claimed route there is a vehicular path 
between Points A and B. 

 
Mr. Leek adds that his client’s response at this time is in an informal one in 
response to an informal consultation and requests notification when the formal 
response is required. 

 
1.11.2 An Investigation Report into this route was distributed to all interested parties 

in May 2011. This Report contained all of the information available to the 
Authority at that date. 

 
Mr. David Weston, on behalf of Dowlais Top Investments, pointed out that no 
section of this route covers land which is in his client’s ownership. He also 
observed that the route on the plan depicting the ownership does not follow 
either the line of the route on the plan attached to the original consultation 
letter in March or the line of the route on the plan submitted by the main 
claimants. He reiterates Mr. Leek’s comment concerning the existence of a 
stone wall and says it is a barrier to any use by the public – and notes that the 
Council has not included this fact in their Report. He also refers to the age of 
the claim and the problems this presents, e.g questioning claimants. A further 
observation is that the Report refers to Gelligaer and Merthyr Common (CL38) 
whereas the area of common affected by the route is CL1. Mr. Weston 
conveys his clients’ reservations about “statements made over 20 years ago 
by claimants and supporting witnesses who can no longer be challenged on 
the accuracy of their claim”  and finally states “ ! the route is not useable and 
the claim should be rejected and it should be for the public to submit a new 
claim for a right of way which can be properly examined and judged on the 
evidence as exists at the present time”. 

 
Gelligaer and Merthyr Commoners Association stated that they object to this 
route and will detail further objections at a later date. 

 
The owner of Penbwlchfa Farm objects to this route. He states that there are 
no motor vehicle tracks currently on his land, and walkers use the common 
land for trekking.  He also said that there have been many problems with drug 
dealing and car theft and if the public right of way is recorded, these will 
become worse. A further objection is that motor bikers would ruin the ground 
and frighten cattle; he has already experienced such problems. 

 
Mr. Julian Kelly, Group Secretary of the National Farmers Union made 
representations on behalf of their members, the owners of Tir Lan Farm. Mr. 
Kelly stated that they, and other farmers and land owners in the area object to 
the route as it has never been used by members of the public and this is 
confirmed by the fact that his member’s family has lived and farmed this land 
for over 40 years; they have no recollection of anyone using this route. They 
also question the evidence which is over ten years old. Mr. Kelly further adds 
that despite what has been written in the Report, receipt of the Investigation 
Report is the owners of Tir Lan’s first notification of the claim. His members do 
not wish to accept any claims for further rights of way across their property 

Page 36



because of the amount of trespass and other crimes experienced by farmers 
on the open fringe. 

 

On behalf of Miller Argent (South Wales) Ltd, Mr. Roger Leek states that his 
clients’ observations of March 2011 still remain and are to be taken in 
conjunction with his current comments. He reiterates his concern that the 
Authority is only now dealing with a 20 year old claim and has not attempted 
to confirm their evidence with claimants (the main claimant is deceased) 
particularly in view of the fact that much of the evidence on the forms in 
duplicated. Mr. Leek’s clients are of the opinion that “If the Authority wishes to 
see this route registered as a legal right of way, it is our client’s opinion that it 
should instigate its own proceedings for the purpose, rather than continue with 
this aged and questionable claim”. 

 
Mr. Leek points out that the route in the Investigation Report does not follow 
that on the original claim; “at its northern end the route ! follows the existing 
agricultural track which neither aligns to the original claimant’s route nor to the 
ancient Merthyr to Cardiff Road shown on the Plymouth Estate plans”. 

 
The only cartographic evidence which Mr. Leek recognizes as evidence of 
public use are the Plymouth Estate plans (although he maintains that the 
marked route is not along the claimed route) and he sees other such evidence 
as only existence of a route on the ground. He also takes issue with the 
Authority’s confirmation of the evidence on the claim forms without any 
ratification. He maintains that the inclusion of this route on the 1979 draft map 
and on a draft schedule is not evidence of the existence of a right of way. 

 
He points out that the Report refers to Gelligaer and Merthyr Common (CL38) 
whereas the area of common affected by the route is CL1 and refers the 
Authority to the register for confirmation. 

 
Mr. Leek writes that he fails to see the relevance of the inclusion of the fact 
that the route passes close to an NTL transmitter and some cairns. 

 
He adds that his client’s response at this time is in an informal one in 
response to an informal consultation and they request notification when the 
formal response is required. 

 
1.12 Observations and Information from Users 
 

1) Summary of claim:- 
 
The main claimant (now deceased) submitted: 

  
correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive 
Map) where he describes this route as a drovers road and that the (ten) 
evidence forms he has attached are “as per Pentrebach link”, correctly 
completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupiers) where he states “link Treharris to Parish 
Road”, a copy of an extract from an OS map with the claimed route 

Page 37



depicted by a bold black and high-lighted pink line, 10 correctly 
completed evidence forms, none describing this specific route in detail, 
9 showing a minimum of 20 years use (the tenth claimant failed to 
answer this question); 7 claiming this route as a footpath (3 failed to 
complete this question); 8 gave evidence of use as a footpath and 2 
gave evidence of use as a BOAT; all stated that the path is well-
defined and that they consider it to be public; all listed the four 
interconnecting routes and stated that they recognised gates on these 
routes, two on the Parish Road and one on the drovers road to the 
Parish Road. These forms are copies of the forms submitted in 
evidence for Merthyr Vale 11 and Troedyrhiw 115. 

 
A number of the forms have been completed by one person but individual 
claimants have signed them. 

 

1.13 Other Evidence in Relation To This Route 
 

This was one of four routes on interconnecting tracks on the ridge of Cefn 
Merthyr which were listed by claimants in June 1991. Claimants for another 
linked route, Bedlinog 77, also gave evidence of using sections of these 
routes and they (and Bedlinog 77) can also be accessed by a further route, 
Public Right of Way footpath Treharris 31; these are all before Councillors for 
determination today. 

 
The route is adopted highway from a point adjacent to Ty Cook Bungalow 
southward. 

 
A section of this route runs over common land, CL1. 

 
A section of this route from a point south of Pendducae Fawr and Pendducae 
Fach southward is depicted as a section of a footpath and labelled “64” on a 
map drawn for a draft survey of rights of way in 1979. The same depiction and 
annotation occurs on the map drawn for a draft survey of rights of way in 
1991. A schedule accompanied this map and route “64” is described: 

 
“64 F. P. Commences at passing point on County Road 150m. south 
of entrance to Penddeugae-Fawr and proceeds by track in a southerly 
direction uphill to gate. (Tied with rope). Then in a southwesterly and 
southerly direction continuing by track to next gate. Then continuing by 
track over open ground in southerly direction passing Forest Chapel 
(ruins) then in a south easterly direction to its termination at junction 
with 65 and 67.” 

 
  The length is given as 1500 yards and the width as 2-6 foot. 
 

A further section of this route is depicted as the entirety of a footpath 
and labelled “65” on a map drawn for a draft survey of rights of way in 
1979. The same depiction and annotation occurs on the map drawn for 
a draft survey of rights of way in 1991. A schedule accompanied this 
map and route “65” is described:   

Page 38



“65 F. P. Length of Track unfenced in a north westerly direction 
connecting 64, 66 and 67.” 
 
The length is given as 110 yards and the width as 8 foot. 
 
Another section of this route is depicted as a section of a footpath and 
labelled “67” on a map drawn for a draft survey of rights of way in 1979. 
the same depiction and annotation occurs on the map drawn for a draft 
survey of rights of way in 1991. A schedule accompanied this map and 
route “67” is described: 

 
“67 F. P. Commences at entrance of Tirlan Farm and proceeds in a 
northwesterly direction following track uphill onto open land walled only 
on north western side, then becoming unfenced then on south easterly 
side only and proceeding to its termination at junction with 64 and 65.” 

 
The Authority’s public rights of way are now recorded on its Definitive Map 
and Statement which are maintained by the Council and held at the Council 
offices in Merthyr Tydfil where they are available for public consultation. The 
duty of recording Public Rights of Way on a Definitive Map and Statement 
was introduced by the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 
which also provided for the survey of paths and the preparation of draft maps 
to which objections could be made. This duty however was optional in London 
and all County Boroughs – of which Merthyr Tydfil was one at that time. The 
period between 1950 and 1974 saw a Definitive Map, a Review, a Draft, a 
Provisional Map and a further Review and Draft Review published for the 
former County of Glamorgan.  Merthyr Tydfil however, was a “blank” area on 
all of these documents although the maps depict public rights of way within 
neighbouring Gelligaer Urban District Council. These routes (now in the 
Caerphilly County Borough Council area) join some of the routes which were 
the subject of the Trecatty Order 1975. The Local Government Act 1972 
abolished County Boroughs and reorganised some County Borough 
boundaries.  Merthyr Tydfil was now within Mid Glamorgan County Council 
which was required to abandon and restart any review for which no revised 
map had been published. A draft survey was carried out and a Draft Map and 
Statement were drawn up for the (new) Merthyr Tydfil Borough in 1979. A 
draft map and schedule of Public Rights of Way was also drawn up for 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council in 1991 but it is not known whether a draft 
statement was produced at this time. In 1991 the former Mid Glamorgan 
County Council produced a “blank” Map for the Borough of Merthyr Tydfil and 
this was followed by a Modified Definitive Map and Statement dated 15th 
December 1995.  This included all Public Rights of Way which had been in 
the Vaynor and Bedlinog Wards (previously within Breconshire County 
Council and the Gelligaer Urban District Council respectively) along with all 
Definitive Map Modification Orders subsequent to 1991 which were 
incorporated into the Order dated 15th December 1995.  

 
In December 1996 MTCBC received a planning application for development 
at the NTL transmitting station, Fforest Farm, Merthyr Vale. The response to 
internal consultation in relation to this proposal was “The approximate line of a 

Page 39



claimed right of way is shown coloured red abutting / crossing the site. This 
must be protected at all times”. This refers to a section of this claimed route. 

 
Sections of the route are depicted as roads on plans in a Plymouth Estate 
Survey book, 1766. 

 
The route passes a number of cairns, some of which have been scheduled. 

 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
recording the route 

2.2 Status 

2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2. 4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
  
2.5 User and historic evidence demonstrate use of this route as a footpath; there 

is minimal evidence of use of this route as a Byway Open to All Traffic. 
 

3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question, the normal 

period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case 
Officers consider that it would be the period between 13th June 1971 and 12th 
June 1991; user evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.2 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
3.3 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 

public use. 
 

4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 

4.1 The entire route is clearly discernible on the ground.  
 

5.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE 
 

5.1 The route has been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. Depiction 
of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Report 
indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of 

Page 40



public rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track 
/ path and the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
5.2 The route is depicted on a number of aerial photographs.  
 

6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence as described 

above. 
 

7.0 LANDOWNERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
7.1 All landowners have made objections to the recording of this route as detailed 
 above. 
 

Mr. David Weston states that the route runs over land which is not in his 
client’s ownership. Unfortunately the wrong plan was sent to his clients; 
nevertheless, the line of the route is as claimed.  

 
Officers accept that stone walls have been in existence for many years; 
however this route proceeds through a gate within a wall. 

 
Although Mr. Roger Leek says that there is a “vehicular path” in addition to the 
“claimed route”, on examination of his photographic evidence, it is officer’s 
opinion that the “vehicle path” is the claimed route and the “claimed route” is, 
in fact, a stone wall.  

 
Where Mr. Leek recognizes a stone wall, officers recognize a gate and barbed 
wire. 

 
The map at Appendix 4 of the Investigation Report follows the claimed route. 

 
The issue of which common the route traverses is not relevant to the claim. 

 
The comments made by Mr. Geraint Jones of Penbwlchfa Farm relate to the 
section of adopted highway. 

 
The route depicted on Appendix 2 of the Investigation Report follows the 
claimed route. 

 
The route is depicted as a road on the Plymouth Estate map. 

 

8.0 SUMMARY 
 

8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways. 
There is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate them. 

 

Page 41



 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of 
these routes as footpaths. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed, i.e. over the relevant period and at all material times 
before it.        

 
 Taking all of the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 

evidence, it is evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 
 

 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of S. 
31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant 
evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use, the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was 
established long before modern times and therefore continues to be a 
highway. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

 
Officers therefore recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive 
Map and Statement as depicted on the Plan, Treharris 40 and as described 
above. 
 
If approved, these routes will be recorded as Merthyr Vale 21, Merthyr Vale 
22, Merthyr Vale 24 and Treharris 40. 

 
9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1 Officer’s time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 
 Councillor’s determine that the public right of way exists, there will be a 

Page 42



 financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with the 
 Public Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 
 
9.2 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the routes 
 will need to be signed.  As Councillors are aware, financial implications are 
 not to be considered by the Committee when determining this application as 
 the County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
 believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it. 
 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
10.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this 
 report and no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 
 including historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that: 
 
In respect of Merthyr Vale 21  
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 
the route marked with a bold black line between Points A – B – C – D on 
the plan, Treharris 40, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order to show Merthyr Vale 21 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made 

as a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are 
made within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period 

and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 
In respect of Merthyr Vale 24 
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 
the route marked with a bold black line between Points B – J – K - E on 
the plan, Treharris 40, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order to show Merthyr Vale 24 as a footpath. 

Page 43



 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made 

as a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are 
made within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period 

and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
In respect of Treharris 40  
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 
the route marked with a bold black line between Points E – F – G - H on 
the plan, Treharris 40, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order to show Treharris 40 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made 

as a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are 
made within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period 

and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
In respect of Merthyr Vale 22 
 

(a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 
the route marked with a bold black line between Points F - L on the plan, 
Treharris 40, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 
 

(b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order to show Merthyr Vale 22 as a footpath. 

 
(c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made 

as a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are 
made within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period 

and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 

Page 44



 
 

ELLIS COOPER 

DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Title of Document(s) 
 

 
Document(s) Date 

 
Document Location 

 
Treharris 40 
 

 
June  2015 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and 

Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 114 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To install an adjustable K barrier and a horse pass at the northern terminus of Troedyrhiw 
114 and to make a Definitive Map Modification Order to reflect the same. 
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Troedyrhiw 114 forms part of the Taff Trail. As councillors are aware the Taff Trail is 
 a widely used national cycle route. Councillors are also aware that motorcycles and 
 other motorised vehicles frequently use sections of the Taff Trail. Troedyrhiw 114 is 
 depicted by a dashed line on the attached plan, Troedyrhiw 114. 
 
1.1  A number of meetings have taken place with members of the Police Force, Fire 

 Service and Ambulance Service with regard the danger that use of the Taff Trail by 
 these prohibited vehicles causes to members of the public. 
 

1.2  The use of the Trail as an uninterrupted track needs to be weighed up against this. 
 The use of the track by people on horseback, push bike, parents with prams and 
 disabled users in wheelchairs also needs to be taken into consideration. 

 

1.3  Following consultation with the above bodies and having considered the use of the 
 Trail by authorised users and the potential/real dangers posed to authorised users by 
 motor bikes it is recommended that a K barrier and a horse pass be installed at the 
 northern terminus of Troedyrhiw 114 (point A on the Attached plan, Troedyrhiw114).  

Date Written 12th May 2015  

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



1.4  It is recognised that installing these two items of furniture will cause disruption to 
 authorised users in that the passage along the Taff Trail in this section will no longer 
 be uninterrupted.  

 
1.5  It is also recognised that this is an ideal location to place this furniture as the area 

 immediately to the north of the northern terminus of Troedyrhiw 114 is a vehicular 
 highway and thus the placing of these 2 items of furniture will clearly demarcate the 
 vehicular section from the bridleway section of the Taff Trail.  

 

1.6 Installation of a K barrier and gate at this point would not require a diversion of the 
 Trail, the gate and barrier would fit within the width of the track itself. 

  

1.7  A Definitive Map Modification Order will need to be made to alter the Definitive Map 
 and Statement            

 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
2.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
 site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 
 
2.2 The horse pass and adjustable K barrier are likely to cost in the region of £1,500.  
 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
4.1 A horse pass and adjustable K barrier be installed at the northern terminus of 

Troedyrhiw 114. 
 
4.2 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to include the new furniture. 
 
4.3 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of 4.2 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
4.4  If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 

subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.   

  
 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

Page 50



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Troedyrhiw 114  Unit 5 

 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 
www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 77 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To consider the installation of gates and/or barriers along this section of Taff Trail. 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Troedyrhiw 77 forms part of the Taff Trail. As councillors are aware the Taff Trail is 
 a widely used national cycle route. Councillors are also aware that motorcycles and 
 other motorised vehicles frequently use sections of the Taff Trail. The route is 
 depicted on the attached plan between point A and point D 
 
1.2  A number of meetings have taken place with members of the Police Force, Fire 

 Service and Ambulance Service with regard the danger that use of the Taff Trail by 
 these prohibited vehicles causes to members of the public. At these meetings 
 discussions took place about the installation of gates and/or barriers at Points A, B, 
 C and D on the attached plan. 
 

1.3  The use of the Trail as an uninterrupted track needs to be weighed up against this. 
 The use of the track by people on horseback, push bike, parents with prams and 
 disabled users in wheelchairs also needs to be taken into consideration. 

 

1.4  Following consultation with the above bodies and having considered the use of the 
 Trail by authorised users and the potential/real dangers posed to authorised users by 

Date Written 14th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 9

Page 55



 motor bikes officers make the following comments in relation to each of the 
 suggested points for the installation of gates and/or barriers.  

 

1.5  With regard Point A on the plan it was suggested that a gate, K barrier and a horse 
 pass be installed at this point. If a gate were to be installed at this point then the Taff 
 Trail would need to be diverted to allow pedestrians and equestrians to utilise the K 
 barrier and horse pass. The horse pass and K barrier would be erected on land in 
 the ownership of Welsh Water. Welsh Water have been party to the discussions in 
 relation to the erection of furniture along the Taff Trail.  

 

1.6  Diversion of the right of way would require an order to be made under s118 
 Highways Act 1980. The legal background for making a diversion order under the 
 Highways Act 1980 is set out in Agenda Item 5. A diversion at this point would entail 
 diversion of the Taff Trail onto Welsh Water land. A diversion would also move the 
 Trail closer to Gethin House. If the trail were diverted then a gate would be installed 
 across the current alignment of the route. This gate would be looked with a proposal 
 that certain people be allowed keys in order to access properties further south. 
 Across the diverted section the proposal is that a horse pass and a K barrier be 
 installed.        
 

1.7  Installation of a K barrier and gate at this point would not require a diversion of the 
 Trail, the gate and barrier would fit within the width of the track itself. 
 

1.8  It should be noted that although discussion s have taken place in relation to a 
 diversion at this point no application has been received by any public body or by an 
 individual to divert the trail. As no application has been received no third party has 
 completed a defrayment form stating that they would pay any compensation that was 
 found to be payable to a third party. If the Council undertakes the diversion under of 
 its own volition and compensation becomes payable then the compensation will be 
 payable out of the Council’s coffers. 

 
1.9   At point B it was suggested that a gate and a horse pass be installed. Point B lies 

 between two old railway abutments on a blind bend.  
 
1.10 Installation of furniture at this point would prove to be dangerous and it would 

 interfere with the uninterrupted use of the Trail by users.  
 
1.11 At Point C, adjacent to Aquarius it was suggested that a horse pass and a K barrier 

 be installed across the route of the Trail. To both the east and west and the furniture 
 it was proposed that a fence be installed. Installation of a K barrier and horse pass at 
 this point would prove to be of no avail if the fences at either side were not installed 
 at the same time. Whilst the horse pass and K barrier would cross the right of way 
 the fences to either side would lie outside of the control of the local authority. 
 Installation of theses fences would be on private land and further as they are on 
 private land maintenance of these fences would not lie with the council.  

 
1.12 If the furniture were to be installed at this point with no fences then the installation of 

 furniture would prove to be ineffective.  
 

Page 56



1.13 Installation of furniture at this point would be impractical and would interfere with the 
 public’s use of the Trail. 

 
1.14 It was also proposed that a horse pass and K barrier be placed at Point D, the 

 southern terminus of Troedyrhiw 77. Further it was suggested that a fence ne 
 erected to both the east and west of these items of furniture.  Installation of a K 
 barrier and horse pass at this point would prove to be of no avail if the fences at 
 either side were not installed at the same time. Whilst the horse pass and K barrier 
 would cross the right of way the fences to either side would lie outside of the control 
 of the local authority. Installation of theses fences would be on private land and 
 further as they are on private land maintenance of these fences would not lie with the 
 council.  

 
1.15 If the furniture were to be installed at this point with no fences then the installation of 

 furniture would prove to be ineffective. 
  
1.16 Installation of furniture at this point would be impractical and would interfere with the 

 public’s use of the Trail.                        
 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
2.1 The horse pass and adjustable K barrier at Point A are likely to cost in the region of 
 £2,800. The Council would not pay for the installation of a gate at this point as the 
 gate would not be on the public right of way. 
 
2.2  If a decision were made to divert the route at Point A then a diversion order would 

 need to be made under s118 Highways Act 1980. This order would need to be 
 advertised in the local press at a cost of approximately £1,000 
 

2.3  The diversion of a public right of way allows an application to be made under s28 
 Highways Act 1980 for compensation. 

 
2.3 Councillors should be aware that there is a right for any adjacent landowners to 
 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 

(1)Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 
accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a person in 
land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by being disturbed in his 
enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming into operation of a public path 
creation order, the authority by whom the order was made shall pay to that person 
compensation equal to the amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2)Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a right 
to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the land, or for 
disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case land over which 
the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless the creation of the 
path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it had been effected 
otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 
 
 

2.4  Installation of the furniture at Point B would be £3,200 

Page 57



2.5  Installation of the furniture at Point C would be £2,500 
 

2.6  Installation of the furniture at Point D would be £2,300 
 
2.7  If a decision were made to install furniture at any of Points B, C or D then a Definitive 

 Map Modification would need to be made under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
 1981. This would be in addition to the costs referred to at 2.1 above in respect of a 
 diversion order. 

 
2.8  This order would need to be advertised in the local press at a cost of approximately 

 £1,000 
 
2.9  Councillors are further advised that any order made by the Council may receive 

 objections. If these objections could not be removed then the Order(s) would need to 
 be referred to The Planning Inspectorate for a decision. The cost of a Public 
 Inquiry will be in the region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
4.1 That no diversion be made at point A and no furniture be installed either. 
 
4.2 That no furniture be installed at Point B. 
 
4.3 That no furniture be installed at Point C. 
 
4.4 That no furniture be installed at Point C.  
  
 
 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Troedyrhiw 77  Unit 5 

 

Page 58



Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 
www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 76 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To consider the installation of gates and/or barriers along this section of Taff Trail. 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Troedyrhiw 76 forms part of the Taff Trail. As councillors are aware the Taff Trail is 
 a widely used national cycle route. Councillors are also aware that motorcycles and 
 other motorised vehicles frequently use sections of the Taff Trail. The route is 
 depicted on the attached plan between point A and point C 
 
1.2  A number of meetings have taken place with members of the Police Force, Fire 

 Service and Ambulance Service with regard the danger that use of the Taff Trail by 
 these prohibited vehicles causes to members of the public. At these meetings 
 discussions took place about the installation of gates and/or barriers at Point C on 
 the attached plan. 
 

1.3  The use of the Trail as an uninterrupted track needs to be weighed up against this. 
 The use of the track by people on horseback, push bike, parents with prams and 
 disabled users in wheelchairs also needs to be taken into consideration. 

 
 
 

Date Written 2nd July 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 10

Page 61



1.4  Following consultation with the above bodies and having considered the use of the 
 Trail by authorised users and the potential/real dangers posed to authorised users by 
 motor bikes officers make the following comments in relation to each of the 
 suggested points for the installation of gates and/or barriers.  

 

1.5  It was proposed that a horse pass and K barrier be placed at Point C, a point just to 
 the west of the north-western boundary of 13 Harriet Town. It was suggested that a 
 fence be erected to the west of these items of furniture.  Installation of a K barrier 
 and horse pass at this point would prove to be of no avail if the fence to the west 
 were not installed at the same time. Whilst the horse pass and K barrier would cross 
 the right of way the fence to the west would lie outside of the control of the local 
 authority. Installation of this fence would be on private land (owned by Welsh Water) 
 and further as the fence is on private land maintenance of the fence would not lie 
 with the council.  

 
1.6  If the furniture were to be installed at this point with no fences then the installation of 

 furniture would prove to be ineffective.  
 

1.7   Installation of furniture at this point would be impractical and would interfere with the 
 public’s use of the Trail.                        

 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
2.1 Installation of the furniture at Point B would be £1,900 
 
2.2 If a decision were made to install furniture at any of Point C then a Definitive Map 
 Modification would need to be made under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  
 
2.3  This order would need to be advertised in the local press at a cost of approximately 

 £1,000. 
 

2.4  Councillors are further advised that any order made by the Council may receive 
 objections. If these objections could not be removed then the Order(s) would need to 
 be referred to The Planning Inspectorate for a decision. The cost of a Public 
 Inquiry will be in the region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
4.1 No furniture be installed at Point C.  
  
 
 
 
 

Page 62



ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Troedyrhiw 76   

 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 65



Page 66

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Treharris 46 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (Bridleway) over land in Council 
ownership – The Celtic Trail, and that the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be 
made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Celtic Trail is nationally recognised and is widely advertised in tourist literature. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this section of the Celtic Trail on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. This will give this section the Celtic 
 Trail a legal status and will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 

 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 
 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 

Date Written 10th June 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 11

Page 67



 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate for a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 

 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 
1.6  Internal consultation regarding the route has been undertaken and no objection to 

 the dedication has been received.   
 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Treharris 46, grid reference 

ST09929686 and proceeds in a general north-north-easterly direction to terminate at 
Point B, grid reference ST10019705 

 
2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 

 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 

accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

Page 68



4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 That Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Treharris 46, between Points 
 A – B as a bridleway. 
 
5.2 That a dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 

     
  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Treharris 46   

   

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Treharris 47 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (Bridleway) over land in Council 
ownership – The Celtic Trail, and that the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be 
made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Celtic Trail is nationally recognised and is widely advertised in tourist literature. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this section of the Celtic Trail on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. This will give this section the Celtic 
 Trail a legal status and will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 

 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 
 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 

Date Written 14th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 12

Page 73



 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate for a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 

 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 
1.6  Internal consultation regarding the route has been undertaken and no objection to 

 the dedication has been received.   
 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Treharris 47, grid reference 

ST10019706 and proceeds in a general north-easterly direction to terminate at Point 
B, grid reference ST10019707 

 
2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 

 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 

accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

Page 74



4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 That Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Treharris 47, between Points 
 A – B as a bridleway. 
 
5.2 That a dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 

     
  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Treharris 47   

   

 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Treharris 48 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (Bridleway) over land in Council 
ownership – The Celtic Trail, and that the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be 
made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Celtic Trail is nationally recognised and is widely advertised in tourist literature. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this section of the Celtic Trail on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. This will give this section the Celtic 
 Trail a legal status and will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 

 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 
 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 

Date Written  

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 13

Page 79



 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate for a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 

 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 
1.6  Internal consultation regarding  the route has been undertaken and no objection to 

 the dedication has been received.   
 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Treharris 48, grid reference 

ST10029707 and proceeds in a general north-easterly direction to terminate at Point 
B, grid reference ST10059711 

 
2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 

 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 

accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

Page 80



4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 That Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Treharris 48, between Points 
 A – B as a bridleway. 
 
5.2 That a dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 

     
  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Treharris 48   

   

 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Treharris 49 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (Bridleway) over land in Council 
ownership – The Celtic Trail, and that the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be 
made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 The Celtic Trail is nationally recognised and is widely advertised in tourist literature. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this section of the Celtic Trail on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. This will give this section the Celtic 
 Trail a legal status and will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 

 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 
 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 

Date Written 15th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 14

Page 85



 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate for a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 

 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 

1.6   Internal consultation regarding the route has been undertaken and no objection to 
 the dedication has been received. 

 

1.7  Councillor will note that this section of the Celtic Trail passes through the Millennium 
 Park. Councillors will also be aware that the Park received funding from the Big 
 Lottery Fund. The Big Lottery Fund has been consulted in respect of the dedication 
 of this section of the Celtic Trail and confirmation has been received that the Big 
 Lottery Fund has no objection to the dedication of the route.     

 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Treharris 49, grid reference 

ST10059712 and proceeds in a general north-easterly direction to cross a bridge 
over the stream at Point B, grid reference ST10199730. It then continues to Point C, 
grid reference ST10209731 where it changes to a general south-easterly direction 
and continues to Point D, grid reference ST10299723. Here it reverts to a general 
north-easterly direction and continues to terminate at Point E, grid reference 
ST10329724. 

 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 

 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 

accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

Page 86



(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

 
4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Treharris 49, between Points  A – 
 B – C – D - E as a bridleway. 
 
5.2 A dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 

     
  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Treharris 49  Unit 5 

   

 

Page 87



Page 88

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Bedlinog 80 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (Bridleway) over land in Council 
ownership – The Celtic Trail, and that the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be 
made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Celtic Trail is nationally recognised and is widely advertised in tourist literature. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this section of the Celtic Trail on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. This will give this section of the Celtic 
 Trail a legal status and will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 

 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 
 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 

Date Written 12th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 15

Page 91



 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate to a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 

 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 
1.6  Internal consultation regarding the route has been undertaken and no objection to 

 the dedication has been received.   
 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Bedlinog 80, grid reference 

ST10569702 and proceeds in a general north-westerly direction to terminate at Point 
B, grid reference ST10379721. 

 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 

 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 

accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

Page 92



4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 That Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Bedlinog 80, between Points 
 A – B as a bridleway. 
 
5.2 That a dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 

     
  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Bedlinog 80   Unit 5 

   

 

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Nythfa

GLYN BARGOED ROAD

GLYNBARGOED CLOSE

CLOSE
EBENEZER

BEECHCROFT HIGH STREET

Sinks

Issues

Drain

Trelewis Halt

Cycle Path

El Sub

El Sub Sta

FB

Sta

143.9m

134.1m

13

6

81

1

27

7

84

9

34

15

33

2

29

3

25

22

12

86

11

10

5

Bryntirion

Lletty

Brookville

Brynheulog

Bryngoleu

BryntegLynvern

Bryn-Amlwg

GwynfrynBungalow

Glenbrook

Brynfedwen

Clyd

Glynbargoed

Oakfield

Breezy Hill

Edgewood

Maes-y-Bryn

Shiraz

House

Fron Deg
Cerney House

Glen View

Verdene

Dan y Coed

The Grange

Maes-yr-Haf

Derwen Deg

Rose Dale

The Glyn

Maes yr Haul

Glyn Bargoed

Muggleswick

¯
Bedlinog 80

DATE:SCALE:

1:1,114

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015
Ordnance Survey 100025302

“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any
 of this data to third parties in any form.”

TITLE: © Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2015
 Arolwg Ordnans 100025302

“Ni chaniateir i chwi gopio, tan-drwyddedu, dosbarthu neu 
werthu y data yma i  unrhyw drydydd barti mewn unrhyw ffurf”

10/02/2015

DEPT:

ROW

Bedlinog 80x

A

B

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Bedlinog 81 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (Bridleway) over land in Council 
ownership – The Celtic Trail, and that the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be 
made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Celtic Trail is nationally recognised and is widely advertised in tourist literature. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this section of the Celtic Trail on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. This will give this section of the Celtic 
 Trail a legal status and will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 

 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 
 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 

Date Written 12th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 16

Page 97



 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate to a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 

 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 
1.6  Internal consultation regarding the route has been undertaken and no objection to 

 the dedication has been received.   
 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Bedlinog 81, grid reference 

ST10579701 and proceeds in a general south-south-easterly direction to terminate 
at Point B, grid reference ST10739660. 

 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 

 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 

accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

Page 98



4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Bedlinog 81, between Points  A – 
 B as a bridleway. 
 
5.2 A dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
  
 
 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Bedlinog 81  Unit 5 

   

 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 101



Page 102

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Bedlinog 68 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To make a Definitive Map Modification Order to reflect the installation of a gate permitted 
under s147 Highways Act 1980 and to remove a gate referred to on the Definitive Map 
and Statement that is situated on the Shingrig Road.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The owner of the land over which the right of way passes applied to the Council to 

install a gate across the right of way. Under s147 Highways Act 1980 the Council 
may permit the installation of a gate provided that certain criteria are met. The gate 
that was requested to be installed is set back from the Shingrig Road roughly at the 
point where the track becomes fenced on both sides, point A on the attached plan, 
Bedlinog 68.  

 
1.2  The decision as to whether the criteria are met is a delegated decision. On 16th 

 December 2013 the then Head of Customers Services being satisfied that the criteria 
 were met exercised his delegated authority and gave permission for the gate. 
 

1.3  A Definitive Map Modification Order will need to be made to alter the Definitive Map 
 and Statement. 

 

1.4  Bedlinog 68 was previously referred to committee on 17th April 2012 when 
 councillors accepted officer’s recommendation to include 2 gates which it had been 

Date Written 10th June 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 17

Page 103



 claimed had historically been in existence along the right of way. The Council 
 subsequently made a Definitive Map Modification Order in 2013 to include these 2 
 gates. Objections to the Order were received and a Public Inquiry was held in 2014. 

 
1.5  The Inspector, Mark Yates, in his decision at paragraph 23 accepted that one of the 

 gates was in existence and one was not. Paragraph 23 of the Inspector’s decision 
 states “� it is my view on the balance of probabilities that the evidence discovered is 
 sufficient to show that the limitation of a gate should be recorded at Shingrig Road. 
 However, I am not satisfied that it can be determined on balance that there was a 
 gate in place at the relevant date of the original definitive map and statement at the 
 location included in the Order at the county boundary � Clearly, the recording of a 
 limitation in the definitive statement does not necessarily mean that a gate will be 
 erected at this point.” The point referred to by the Inspector is point B on the plan 
 accompanying this report. 

 
1.6  With regard the gate at Point B a planning permission was granted on 15th July 2002 

 imposed conditions in relation to the first 10 metres of the right of way as it left the 
 Shingrig Road as it heads towards the county boundary and also in relation to 
 visibility splays. Condition 9 of the 2002 planning permission stated “visibility splays 
 of 3 metres by 70 metres at the point(s) of access onto the public highway shall be 
 provided before the commencement of the development. These splays shall be kept 
 free of any structure or vegetation exceeding 0.9 metres in height at all times” 

 

1.7  It is the view of officers that this limitation on the Definitive Statement is now 
 redundant as the gate would be situate in the middle of the visibility splay. Officers 
 therefore recommend that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to remove 
 this limitation. 

 
1.8  Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 

 shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
 reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of prescribed events 
 by Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to 
 be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. The event referred to at 
 1.2 above is a prescribed event. 

 

1.9  The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3. 
 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
2.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
 site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 
 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

Page 104



4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
4.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to include the gate authorised under 

delegated authority and to remove the gate that is referred to within the current order 
adjacent to the Shingrig Road. 

 
4.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of 3.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
4.3  If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 

subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.   

  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Bedlinog 68  Unit 5 Rights of Way 

   

 

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Town 26  

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To seek Councillor’s approval to extinguish a section of Public Right of Way Town 26.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 A section of Public Right of Way Town 26 as depicted on the plan, Town 26, requires 
 extinguishment. 
 
1.2 Section 118 Highways Act 1980 states “Where it appears to a Council as respects a 
 footpath or bridleway in their area (other than one which is a trunk road or a special 
 road) that it is expedient that the path or way be stopped up on the ground it is not 
 needed for public use, the Council may by Order made by them and submitted to 
 and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed as an unopposed order, 
 extinguish the public right of way over the path or way.” 
 
1.3  The Council can only have one reason in law under Section 118 for making a Public 

 Path Extinguishment Order and that is that it appears to the Council expedient on the 
 ground that it is not needed for public use. This test has been satisfied. 
 

1.4  Town 26 is depicted on the plan, Town 26 as running between Points A – B- C. The 
 section that requires extinguishment is the section between Points B – C. The 
 reason for the extinguishment is that in Autumn 2014 this section of the public right 
 of way was adopted by the Council’s highway division as a highway maintainable at 

Date Written 12th May 2015  

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 18

Page 109



 public expense. Now that the highway is maintainable at public expense the highway 
 has vested in the local authority subject to any existing private rights. 

  
1.5  The public by virtue of the adoption of this section of the public right of way are still 

 able to exercise their right to walk along this route. It is officer’s view that there is no 
 point in this section of the route being recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement 
 as the public still have the right to walk the route and also maintenance is now the 
 responsibility of the Highways division. Officers therefore recommend that an 
 Extinguishment Order be made. 

 
1.6  The legal background is to be found in Agenda Item 4.                                  
 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
2.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
 site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 
 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage.  
 

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
4.1 Councillors approve the making of an Extinguishment Order under section 118 
 Highways Act 1980. 
 
4.2  To approve the confirmation of the Extinguishment order made as a result of 4.1 

 above provided no objections or representations are made within the prescribed 
 period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn 
 

4.3  If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
 subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
 for determination.   

  
 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Town 26    

   

   

   

 

Page 110



Page 111



Page 112

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Dowlais 18 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To obtain committee approval for a Public Path Diversion Order to divert Footpath Dowlais 
18. 
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Dowlais 18 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The 
 route recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement is as shown on the attached 
 plan, Dowlais 18 by a solid black line between Points A and B.   
 
1.2  In late autumn/early winter 2014 works were carried out on this footpath which 

 resulted in both a change of surface and in the footpath being diverted. Further a 
 gate has been installed at Point A.  

 
1.3 Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 gives the authority the power to approve an 
 application for changes to the route of a path by concurrent creation and 
 extinguishment, stating in s1:  

 “Where it appears to a Council as respects a footpath or bridleway in their area � 
 that, in the interest of the owner, lessee or occupier of land crossed by the path or 
 way or of the public, it is expedient that the line of the path or way or part of that line, 
 should be diverted (whether onto land of the same or another owner, lessee or 
 occupier), the Council may, subject to subsection (2) below, by order made by them 

Date Written 11th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 19

Page 113



 and submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed as an 
 unopposed order, - 

 

(a) create � any such new footpath or bridleway as appears to the 
Council requisite for effecting the diversion, and 

 

(b) extinguish � in accordance with the provisions of subsection (3) 
below, the public right of way over so much of the path or way as appears to 
the Council requisite as aforesaid. 

 

  An order under this section is referred to in this Act as a public path diversion 
  order.” 

1.4 Subsections 2 – 9 of S.119 also require:- 

 That if the termination point is not on a highway, the new termination point must “be 
 substantially as convenient to the public.” 

 
That the order not come into force until any necessary work is done to “bring the new 
site of the footpath or bridleway into a fit condition for use by the public.” 

 

That the public path diversion order may be unconditional or subject to limitations or 
conditions. 

 

That the landowner, lessee, or occupier of the land enter into an agreement with the 
Council to defray or make contribution to the costs of any compensation and any 
expenses which may be incurred “in bringing the new site of the path or way into fit 
condition for use for the public.” 

• That the order not be confirmed unless the Council / Welsh Assembly 
Government are satisfied that: 

 

“it is expedient as mentioned in subsection (1) above, and further that the path 
or way will not be substantially less convenient to the public in consequence 
of the diversion and that it is expedient to confirm the order having regard to 
the effect which –  

 

(a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the path or way 
as a whole; 

(b) the coming into operation of the order would have as respects 
 other land served by the existing public right of way; and 

(c) any new public right of way created by the order would have as 
 respects the land over which the right is so created and any land 
 held with it.” 

 

Page 114



Any material provisions in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan must be 
considered. 

The Order must be in the prescribed form. 

Schedule 6 of the Act has effect on the making and confirmation of the Order. 

Other sections of the Act be applied to the making of a public path diversion 
order. 

1.5 This diversion is being undertaken by the Council of its own volition. 

 
1.6 The legal background is to be found at Agenda Item 5. 
 
1.7 The Route 
 
 Existing Footpath – the existing route of Dowlais 18 is depicted as a solid black line 
 between points A- B on the attached plan, Dowlais 18. The footpath is on land in the 
 Council’s ownership.   
 
1.8 Proposed Footpath – the proposed route will follow an already existing tarmacadam 
 path for its entire length and is depicted as a dashed line between Points A - B on 
 the attached plan, Dowlais 18 . 
 
1.9 The commencement and termination points of the original path, Dowlais 18 will 
 remain the same. 
 
1.10 No extra work is necessary to bring the proposed diversion into a fit condition for use 
 by the public. 
 
1.11 A gate exists on the proposed diversion. 
 
1.12 The proposed diversion is no less convenient to the public and will not affect their 
 enjoyment of the footpath as a whole. 
 
1.13 The proposed diversion does not adversely affect the land served by the existing or 
 proposed footpath. 
 
1.14 The proposal conforms to the aims and objectives within the Merthyr Tydfil County 
 Borough Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan. 
 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to divert Dowlais 18. 

 It is concluded on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of s119 Highways 
Act 1980 have been met.  

 
 
 
 

Page 115



3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner.  
 
3.2 Councillors should be aware that there is a right for any adjacent landowners to 
 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 

(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 
accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers.    

 
 

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 

a) Taking in to account all of the evidence which has been provided to confirm 
the diversion of Dowlais 18 from the solid black line as depicted on the Plan, 
Dowlais 18, between Point A and Point B to the dashed line as depicted on 
the Plan, Dowlais 18, between Point A and Point B. 

 
b) A Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert the footpath. 

 
c) To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion Order made as a 

result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within 
the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are 
withdrawn. 

 

d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 
not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 

Page 116



 
ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Dowlais 18  Unit 5 

   

 

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 121



Page 122

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Dowlais 17 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To make a Definitive Map Modification Order to record the change in surface of Dowlais 
17.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Dowlais 17 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route 
 of Dowlais 17 is depicted on the attached plan. 
 
1.2  In late autumn/early winter 2014 works were carried out on this footpath which 

 resulted in a change of surface.    
 

1.3  Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
 shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
 reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of prescribed events 
 by Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to 
 be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. The event referred to at 
 1.2 above is a prescribed event. 

 

1.4  The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.                  
 

Date Written 2nd July 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 20

Page 123



2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
2.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
 site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 
 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

 
4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
4.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface. 
 
4.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of 4.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
4.3  If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 

subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.   

  
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Dowlais 17    

   

   

   

 

Page 124



Page 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Dowlais 41 

 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To recommend dedication of a Public Right of Way (footpath) at Newland Park and that 
the appropriate Definitive Map Modification Order be made.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Council is currently implementing its Safe Routes to School initiative. As part of 
 that initiative a number of routes within Newland Park have been identified as safe 
 routes. With the exception of the path before Councillor’s today the remainder of the 
 identified safe routes within Newland Park are already recorded on eth Council’s 
 Definitive Map and Statement. 
 
1.2 The Rights of Way section is looking to record this safe route to school on the 
 Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. This will give this path a legal status and 
 will protect the public’s rights to use this route. 
 
1.3  There are two options open to the Council to achieve this result (a) by following the 
 Definitive Map Modification Order process or (b) by dedicating the route as a public 
 right of way. 
 

1.4  If option (a) is followed a legal order may be made where evidence held by the 
 authority shows that a public path exists or is “reasonably alleged to subsist”. A 
 landowner (including the Council) may object to the Order being made by providing 

Date Written 2nd July 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 21

Page 127



 evidence to the contrary that shows they never intended the path to become public. 
 As part of the legal order making process a 42 day public consultation period is 
 necessary and the order requires advertising on site and in a local newspaper. If 
 objections are received the opposed Order is sent to the Planning Inspectorate for a 
 Welsh Minister for a decision to be made as to whether to confirm (with or without 
 modifications) or not to confirm the order and a Public Inquiry may be necessary to 
 determine the Order. This process is both costly and time consuming and has 
 resource implications for the Council. The cost of a Public Inquiry will be in the 
 region of £5,000 to £10,000.    

 
1.5  If option (b) is followed the Council as landowner may dedicate the strip of land for 
 use and enjoyment as a Public Right of Way. This process does not allow for third 
 party objections to be made and as there is no statutory duty to undertake further 
 consultations the potential for additional costs and resource implications associated 
 with the process are greatly reduced. Notices will be placed on site to bring the 
 dedication to the attention of the general public. This process is both more efficient 
 and cost effective. 

 
1.6  Internal consultation regarding the route has been undertaken and no objection to 
 the dedication has been received.   

 

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF ROUTE TO BE ADDED 
 
2.1 The route commences at Point A on the plan, a gate adjacent to the maintainable 

highway, grid reference SO05680698 and proceeds in a general northerly direction, 
crossing a footbridge at Point B. It then continues to Point C where it turns to a 
general easterly direction and continues to terminate at Point D, its junction with 
Public Right of Way, footpath Dowlais 15, grid reference SO05770705. 

 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

3.1 There are costs implications of this proposal of signposting the routes at appropriate 
 points which will not exceed £500. These costs can be met out of the existing public 
 rights of way budget. The Council already has to meet the cost of maintenance of the 
 route in its capacity as landowner. 
 
3.2  Councillors should be aware that there is the right for any adjacent landowners to 
 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 

(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 
accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 

Page 128



the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

   
3.3 It is considered that the above is unlikely as the route is already physically in 
 existence and has been for a number of years.   

 
4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
 no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
5.1 Council dedicate the route as depicted on the plan Dowlais 41, between Points  A – 
 B – C – D as a footpath. 
 
5.2 A dedication agreement be drawn up in respect of the route. 
 
5.3 Once the dedication agreement has been effected that site notices are placed at 
 each end of the route and that a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under 
 s53(3)(a)(iii) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Dowlais 41   

   

 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 131



Page 132

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 12 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To make a Definitive Map Modification Order to record the change in surface and widening 
of Cyfarthfa 12.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Cyfarthfa is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. The route 
 of Cyfarthfa 12 is depicted on the attached plan. 
 
1.2  At Planning and Regulatory Committee on 29th April 2015 planning permission was 

 granted for a new shared walkway and cycling route to include the improvement and 
 widening of existing footways, the erection of new ramps, guardrails and retaining 
 walls and the conversion of existing bridleway into a shared use route. Planning 
 permission was granted under reference P/15/0046. This planning permission affects 
 Cyfarthfa 12. 

  
1.3  At present the bridleway is a natural surface. The surface will be altered to 

 tarmacadam and the bridleway will be widened to 3 metres for its entire length.  
 

1.4  The shared use referred to in the planning permission is that of pedestrian, 
 equestrian and pedal bike. All 3 of these users are already entitled to use the 
 bridleway in any event.        

Date Written 14th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 22

Page 133



1.5  Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
 shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
 reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of prescribed events 
 by Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to 
 be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. The events referred to 
 at 1.2 and 1.3 above are prescribed events. 
 

1.6  The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.                  
 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
2.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
 site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 
 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
3.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface and the 

widening of the bridleway. 
 
3.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 

result of 3.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
3.3  If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 

subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.   

  
 
ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Cyfarthfa 12    

   

 

Page 134



Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 1 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To make a Creation Order to record the route as a bridleway.  
 
 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Cyfarthfa 1 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a bridleway. The 
 route of Cyfarthfa 1 is depicted on the attached plan. 
 
1.2  At Planning and Regulatory Committee on 29th April 2015 planning permission was 

 granted for a new shared walkway and cycling route to include the improvement and 
 widening of existing footways, the erection of new ramps, guardrails and retaining 
 walls and the conversion of existing bridleway into a shared use route. Planning 
 permission was granted under reference P/15/0046. This planning permission affects 
 Cyfarthfa 1.  
 

1.3  The planning permission will allow shared usage of Cyfarthfa 1. At present only 
 pedestrians may use the footpath.  

 

 
1.4  S26 Highways Act 1980 allows a local authority to create a bridleway by way of a 

 creation order. This section allows the local authority to make an order that a 
 bridleway should be created along the route of Cyfarthfa 1. The new bridleway will 

Date Written 14th May 2015 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 20th July 2015 

Agenda Item 23

Page 137



 be 3 metres wide and the surface will be tarmacadam. The steps at the termination 
 of the route will be removed and be replaced by a DDA compliant ramp.  
 

1.5  The authority is satisfied that the creation of a bridleway would add to the 
 convenience and enjoyment of the public in this area. 

 

1.6  The creation of a path under this section does allow for compensation to become 
 payable to an aggrieved person under s28 Highways Act 1980. 

      
1.7  The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.                  
 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
2.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
 site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 
 
2.2 Councillors should be aware that there is a right for any adjacent landowners to 
 claim compensation under section 28 Highways Act 1980 which states:- 

(1) Subject to the following provisions of this section if, on a claim made in 
accordance with this section, it is shown that the value of an interest of a 
person in land is depreciated, or that a person has suffered damage by 
being disturbed in his enjoyment of land, in consequence of the coming 
into operation of a public path creation order, the authority by whom the 
order was made shall pay to that person compensation equal to the 
amount of the depreciation or damage. 

(2) Nothing in this section confers on any person, in respect of a footpath, 
bridleway or restricted byway created by a public path creation order, a 
right to compensation for depreciation of the value of an interest in the 
land, or for disturbance in his enjoyment of land, not being in either case 
land over which the path or way was created or land held therewith, unless 
the creation of the path or way would have been actionable at his suit if it 
had been effected otherwise  than in the exercise of statutory powers. 

 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
3.1 A Creation Order be made to record a bridleway along the route of Cyfarthfa 1.   
  
 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES   

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Cyfarthfa 1  Unit 5 

   

 

Page 138



Page 139



Page 140

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way
	4 Guidance on the Law relating to the extinguishment of Public Rights of Way under the Highways Act 1980
	5 Guidance on the Law relating to the Diversion of Rights of Way under Highways Act 1980
	6 Troedyrhiw 115
	Plan Troedyrhiw 115

	7 Treharris 40
	Plan Treharris 40

	8 Troedyrhiw 114
	Plan Troedyrhiw 114

	9 Troedyrhiw 77
	Plan Troedyrhiw 77

	10 Troedyrhiw 76
	Plan Troedyrhiw 76

	11 Treharris 46
	Plan Treharris 46

	12 Treharris 47
	Plan Treharris 47

	13 Treharris 48
	Plan Treharris 48

	14 Treharris 49
	Plan Treharris 49

	15 Bedlinog 80
	Plan Bedlinog 80

	16 Bedlinog 81
	Plan Bedlinog 81

	17 Bedlinog 68
	Plan Bedlinog 68

	18 Town 26
	Plan Town 26

	19 Dowlais 18
	Old Map Dowlais 18
	New Map Dowlais 18

	20 Dowlais 17
	Plan Dowlais 17

	21 Dowlais 41
	Plan Dowlais 41

	22 Cyfarthfa 12
	Plan Cyfarthfa 12

	23 Cyfarthfa 1
	Plan Cyfarthfa 1


